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Preface

Enron, WorldCom and Parmalat are well-known accounting scandals. However, what is not
so well known is that every country has its own accounting scandals. The basic motivation
for this book is to explore the role of accounting, particularly creative accounting and
fraud, in accounting scandals across different countries. I therefore approached people
from different countries to see if they would be prepared to help me. In almost every case
they did not say ‘what accounting scandals?’ but ‘which accounting scandals would you
like me to write about?’

Accounting scandals, by their nature, are extreme cases. They generally involve creative
accounting and fraud. The title of the book reflects this: Creative Accounting, Fraud and
International Accounting Scandals. This book covers 58 high-profile accounting scandals
across 12 countries. However, it also deals with many other cases of creative accounting
and fraud.

Accounting scandals are inherently interesting because they indicate extreme abuse of
financial reporting. They show how, in extremis, the accounting numbers can be manipulated
so as to deceive and defraud. This book provides an insight into the methods of creative
accounting and fraud, the motivations that underpin the scandals and the consequences of
the scandals, both in the short term and the long term.

The book aims to inform. The information is presented in as accessible a way as possible.
There is a focus on presenting the big picture. The book should prove very interesting to
readers. It provides a global approach to the topic. It covers 12 countries with representatives
from Australasia (Australia), Asia (China, India and Japan), Europe (Germany, Greece,
Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden, Spain and the UK) and North America (USA). It therefore
represents leading global economies, developed and developing countries as well as the
majority of the world’s population. In addition, there is a chapter dealing with bank failures
in the recent credit crunch.

The book is presented in three broad sections. In the first section I explore the basic
themes which underpin the book. I examine the creative accounting environment, motives,
methods and impression management. I site this within the academic and largely descriptive
professional literature.

In the next section, individual authors, all native to their respective countries, provide an
in-depth look at the major accounting scandals and instances of creative accounting that
have occurred since the 1980s. Each author contextualizes the accounting issues and looks
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at the motives, methods and consequences of the creative accounting and the accounting
scandals. These chapters give a unique insight into the global nature of the problem. There is
also a final chapter in this section looking at the consequences of the recent global banking
crisis.

To write this book I depended upon the expertise of the individual authors. This book
would not have been possible without my reliance on their research and local knowledge.
To the best of my knowledge the facts which they have described and on which this book
is based are correct.

The authors were given general parameters within which to write their chapter. I rely upon
the expertise and factual accuracy of the individual country author chapters to synthesise
and distil the material. The material in Chapters 21-23 and Appendices 1 and 2 thus relies
principally on these individual chapter contributions. Generally, I have not changed the
accounting terminology that they have used. Therefore, within the book certain accounting
terms are used somewhat interchangeably such as inventory or stock; accounts receivable
or trade receivables or debtors; accounts payable or trade payables or creditors; property,
plant and equipment or fixed assets. This is because different countries have their own
terminology or use International Accounting Standards Board terminology.

In the last three chapters, I draw out some general themes from the chapters. I look
at the methods used, the motivations for the creative accounting, fraud and accounting
scandals, the role of powerful individuals, and I highlight failures of internal control and
external auditing. Finally, I investigate the long-term impact of accounting scandals on the
regulatory environment.

This book has several novel and original features:

e An accessible overview of the methods, motives and nature of creative accounting and
fraud drawing on prior literature and past accounting scandals.

e For the first time, an in-depth study of international accounting scandals in both developed
and developing countries.

¢ Individual chapters are written by experienced authors native to each country.

e A global synthesis of the motivations, methods, control failings and consequences of
major accounting scandals is provided.

e An historical overview of accounting scandals and creative accounting is provided from
the ancient period into the 1980s.

e A chapter looking at the banking crisis of 2008/9 from an accounting perspective.

As such, this book provides a rare glimpse into the murky world of accounting scandals. It
will be ideal for the general reader, professional accountant and businessman worldwide.
It is also well suited for undergraduate students taking courses in forensic accounting and
fraud. It may also prove a useful supporting book on more general accounting and finance
courses. The book is uniquely positioned to support specialised MSc courses in accounting
and finance or MBA courses.

Michael Jones
August 2010
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Introduction — Setting the Scene

Michael Jones

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Accounting scandals, creative accounting and fraud are perennial. They range from ancient
Mesopotamia to the South Sea Bubble in 1720 to Enron and Parmalat today. They occur in
all eras and in all countries. As accounting forms a central element of any business success or
failure, the role of accounting is crucial in understanding such business scandals. Accounting
enables businesses to keep a set of records to give investors and other users a picture of
how well or badly the firm is doing. However, sometimes when businesses are doing badly
managers are tempted to use accounting to enhance the apparent performance of the firm in
an unjustified way. In addition, managers may wish to use the flexibility within accounting
to serve a range of managerial interests such as to boost profits or increase assets. This can
be done legally by using creative accounting to exploit the flexibility within accounting.
Alternatively, in other cases management will indulge in false accounting or fraud. In this
case, management will step outside the rules and regulations that govern accounting. Often
this will be because management has got into serious financial difficulties and is looking
for any way to postpone corporate collapse. Managers may use prohibited accounting
techniques, falsify records or even record fictitious transactions. In some cases, companies
start with creative accounting, but end up committing fraud.

This book aims to explore the role of accounting, particularly creative accounting and
fraud, in accounting scandals. The terminology of creative accounting is explored first,
and I then provide an overview of the three parts of the book. In Part A the background and
context of creative accounting and fraud are explored. This part draws upon the established
academic and professional literature and thinking about creative accounting and fraud. It
provides an overview of the main terminology, looks at the creative accounting environment,
the motivations for indulging in creative accounting and fraud, the methods of creative
accounting and fraud, the evidence for creative accounting, impression management and,
finally, looks at 18 major accounting scams and scandals across time. This is from ancient
times until about 1980.

Part B looks at a series of international accounting scandals. Accounting scandals in 12
countries are investigated, covering Asia, Australasia, Europe and North America. Country
specialists contribute chapters on Australia, China, Germany, Greece, India, Italy, Japan, the
Netherlands, Spain, Sweden, the UK and the USA. In addition, there is a separate chapter
dealing with the global banking crisis of 2008-9 from an accounting perspective. As can be
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seen from their biographies, these experienced academics, using their knowledge and expe-
rience, provide an informed view of creative accounting, fraud and international accounting
scandals in their respective countries. Finally, in Part C, I draw out some themes and impli-
cations from the country studies. In particular, I look at the impact of accounting scandals
and synthesise the country studies using the data available from the individual chapters.

1.2 EXPLORING THE TERMS

The term ‘creative accounting’ came to prominence in a book published by lan Griffiths in
1986. This book, called Creative Accounting (Griffiths, 1986), written in the UK context,
began with the assertion that:

Every company in the country is fiddling its profits. Every set of accounts is based on books
which have been gently cooked or completely roasted. The figures which are fed twice a year
to the investing public have been changed in order to protect the guilty. It is the biggest con
trick since the Trojan horse.

Any accountant worth his salt will confirm that this is no wild assertion. There is no argument
over the extent and existence of this corporate contortionism, the only dispute might be over
the way in which it is described. Such phrases as ‘cooking the books’, ‘fiddling the accounts’,
and ‘corporate con trick’ may raise eyebrows where they cause people to infer that there is
something illegal about this pastime. In fact, this deception is all in perfectly good taste. It is
totally legitimate — it is creative accounting.

Since Griffiths’ book there have been many other explorations of creative accounting. In
the UK, for example, there have been at least three books. Accounting for Growth by Terry
Smith, a city analyst, looked at the reporting practices of 185 UK companies and found
numerous examples of creative accounting. Hardly any companies were immune (Smith,
1991). Trevor Pijper, in Creative Accounting: The Effectiveness of Financial Reporting in
the UK, investigated the situation in the UK at the start of the 1990s, finding many companies
that had indulged in creative accounting. In particular, Pijper looked in depth at Polly Peck,
a UK company that controversially collapsed in 1990 (Pijper, 1993). Finally, McBarnet
and Whelan, in Creative Accounting and the Cross-eyed Javelin Thrower, explored UK
financial reporting in 1999. They looked at many instances of creative accounting, especially
those detected by the Financial Reporting and Review Panel, which ‘policed’ UK financial
reporting (McBarnet and Whelan, 1999). Meanwhile, in the USA, a very influential book by
Charles Mulford and Eugene Comiskey, entitled The Financial Numbers Game, investigated
the pre-Enron financial reporting in the USA and documented numerous examples of both
creative accounting and fraud. Enron is shown to be only one high-profile example of
frequently occurring financial manipulations in the USA (Mulford and Comiskey, 2002).
This leads us to the question, what exactly are creative accounting and fraud and how
can they be distinguished from other commonly used terms such as earnings management,
income smoothing and aggressive accounting?

1.2.1 Creative Accounting

Although creative accounting is a popularly used term, there is much less agreement on
its exact definition than might be supposed. In essence, there is the wide definition, as
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adopted by Mulford and Comiskey (2002, p. 15) in the USA and the narrower definition
as practised in the UK. I give two representative definitions in Figure 1.1, and also the
preferred definition that I will use in the book.

Generally, therefore, the wider US definition sees creative accounting as including fraud
whereas the UK definition sees creative accounting as using the flexibility within the
regulatory system, but excludes fraud. The preferred definition in this book sees creative
accounting as excluding fraud. It is defined as ‘Using the flexibility in accounting within
the regulatory framework to manage the measurement and presentation of the accounts so
that they give primacy to the interests of the preparers not the users’. Creative accounting is
thus seen as working within the regulatory system. It is thus not illegal. Companies using
creative accounting are not breaking the law, just using the flexibility in accounting to serve
their own interests.

Creative accounting is thus designed, by exploiting loopholes in the existing regulatory
system, to serve preparers’ not users’ interests. In Europe, the financial statements of
published companies, for example, are required to present a ‘true and fair’ view of the
accounts. In the USA, a similar phrase ‘present fairly’ is used. In these Anglo-Saxon
countries (and in many other countries) there is the overriding notion that accounts should
faithfully represent economic reality.! Users are supposed to be given a set of financial
accounts which reflect economic reality. Creative accounting, by contrast, privileges the
interests of the preparers (i.e. the managers). It is able to do this because of the fundamental
need for financial reports to be flexible so as to give a true and fair view of accounts. All
companies are different and operate in different environments.

The flexibility in financial reporting is meant to reflect this. However, this flexibility can
be used, and often is, for creative accounting. As Figure 1.2 shows, there is a continuum
from no flexibility to flexibility to give a true and fair view, to flexibility to give a creative
view, to flexibility to give a fraudulent view.

Thus, if there is no flexibility, there will be no creative accounting. However, there will
also not be a true and fair view. This is unacceptable as a fundamental purpose of account-
ing is to provide users, generally shareholders, with information so that they can make
economic decisions such as whether to buy, sell or hold shares. A regulatory framework,
which varies from country to country but may include national standards (most countries,
e.g. the UK and the USA), international standards (widely used), company law (some
countries, such as the UK and Germany) or independent accounting commissions (such as
the Securities and Exchange Commission in the USA) has, therefore, grown up to set up
accounting rules and regulations which companies and other organizations should follow
so as to deliver ‘a true and fair view’ to account users. This is the ideal scenario, where the
preparers of accounts use the flexibility in the accounts to deliver ‘a true and fair view’.
However, the flexibility within the accounting rules and regulations opens the door for the
managers to use creative accounting. In a sense, there is nothing wrong in this as they are
not breaking any rules. However, they are departing from the basic purpose of accounting,
which is to provide users with a true and fair view. When the managers actually go outside
the regulatory framework, they are not then complying with existing regulations. Techni-
cally, they may then be indulging in false accounting or in fraud. However, this is a difficult

! For ease of understanding the phrase ‘true and fair’ commonly used in Europe is used in this book to convey the notion
of economic reality.
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Narrow definitions of creative accounting

“The exploitation of loopholes in financial regulation in order to gain advantage or present figures in
a misleadingly favourable light.”

Oxford Dictionary of English

“A form of accounting which, while complying with all regulations, nevertheless gives a biased
impression (generally favourable) of the company’s performance.”

Chartered Institute of Management Accounting (2000), Official Terminology

Wide definition of creative accounting

“Any and all steps used to play the financial numbers game, including the aggressive choice and
application of accounting principles, both within and beyond the boundaries of generally accepted
accounting principles, and fraudulent financial reporting. Also included are steps taken toward
earnings management and income smoothing.”

Mulford and Comiskey (2002, p. 15)

Preferred definition of creative accounting

“Using the flexibility in accounting within the regulatory framework to manage the measurement and
presentation of the accounts so that they give primacy to the interests of the preparers not the
users.”

Fraud

“A knowing misrepresentation of the truth or concealment of a material fact to induce another to act
to his or her detriment.”

Black’s Law Dictionary, 7th edn (1999)

“«

... ‘fraud’ comprises both the use of deception to obtain an unjust or illegal financial advantage and
intentional misrepresentations affecting the financial statements by one or more individuals among
management, employees, or third parties. Fraud may involve:

e Falsification or alteration of accounting records or other documents.

e Misappropriation of assets or theft.

e Suppression or omission of the effects of transactions from records or documents.
e Recording of transactions without substance.

e Intentional misapplication of accounting policies.

e  Wilful misrepresentation of transactions or of an entity’s state of affairs.”

Auditing Standards Board, Statement of Auditing Standard, SAS 110

Figure 1.1 Definitions of creative accounting and fraud
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Fraudulent financial reporting

”International misstatements or omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial statements, done to
deceive financial statement users, that are determined to be fraudulent by an administrative, civil or
criminal proceeding.”

Mulford and Comiskey (2002, p. 3)

“International material misstatement of financial statements or financial disclosures or the
perpetration of an illegal act that has a material direct effect on the financial statements or financial
disclosures.”

Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999)

Preferred definition of fraud

The use of fictitious accounting transactions or those prohibited by generally accepted accounting
principles gives the presumption for fraud which becomes proved after an administrative or court
proceeding.

Figure 1.1 Definitions of creative accounting and fraud (Continued)

area. False accounting or fraud, in effect, must be proved in a court of law or by a regulatory
body.

No ————>  Flexibilityto =~ ———— Flexibilityto ———— Flexibility to
flexibility give a ‘true give a creative give a fraudulent
and fair’ view view view
Regulatory framework Working within Working within Working outside
eliminates accounting regulatory framework regulatory framework regulatory
choice to serve users’ to serve preparers’ framework
interests interests
Within regulatory framework Outside regulatory
framework

Figure 1.2 Flexibility within accounting
Source: Adapted from Jones (2006).

1.2.2 Fraud

The difference between creative accounting and fraud is, therefore, essentially that creative
accounting is working within the regulatory framework. An exact definition of fraud is
elusive; for instance, in the UK there is no legal definition of fraud (Levi, Information
Gathering Working Party and Doig, 1999). However, fraud involves working outside the
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regulatory framework. In each country, the definition of fraud will be slightly different;
however, in essence, it involves breaking the law and/or violating the regulatory framework.
Fraud can be committed by individuals or management. For individuals, accounting fraud
would generally involve theft of, for example, inventory or cash. For management, there is
also the crime of preparing false financial statements intended to deceive users. When there
are suspicions that fraud is taking place, then we can say there is alleged fraud. However,
it is only when there is a proven court case that we have a demonstrable case of fraud.
Thus, in Polly Peck, a UK company that collapsed in 1991, Asil Nadir has been accused
of fraud and false accounting by the Serious Fraud Office in the UK but has not yet been
brought to court. The charges remain alleged, with Asil Nadir protesting his innocence.
However, in the USA Kenneth Lay and Jeffrey Skilling were both brought to trial and
found guilty of accounting fraud at Enron (White, 2006). Also in the USA, the Rigas
family who owned Adelphi Communications, a cable operator, were accused of a whole
range of accounting malpractices in June 2002. ‘The Justice Department and the U.S. Postal
Inspection Service charged the five executives with securities, wire and bank fraud, saying
they “looted Adelphia on a massive scale” and used it as a “personal piggy bank”. Rigas
private funds sloshed with Adelphia’s in the same cash-management system’ (Lieberman
and Farrell, 2002, p. 3). For their role in the fraud, key members of the founding family
were convicted of financial statement fraud.

Financial statement fraud is a subset of fraud in general. There have been some attempts
to estimate both the extent of fraud and of financial statement fraud, which is the main
focus of this particular book. The most comprehensive study, particularly of financial
statement fraud, is provided by Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999) in a research
report commissioned by the Treadway Commission in the USA. This is dealt with, in
depth, in Chapter 5. I therefore focus here on other indications of the extent of fraud in four
studies from the UK, USA, Australia and globally.

First, in the UK the Fraud Advisory Panel (Levi, Information Gathering Party and Doig,
1999) outlined various ranges of the annual cost of major frauds in the UK. These ranged
from £16 billion from the Association of British Insurers; £5 billion from the Serious Fraud
Office as well as Ernst & Young; £1-2 billion from benefit fraud and £400-700 million
from KPMG. The Serious Fraud Office workload of alleged frauds in April 1997 was over
£2 billion and the most common frauds were those on investors and creditors, and on banks
and other institutions. The number of cases of false accounting ranged from a high of 2106
in 1989 to a low of 1395 in 1995 (from 1986-96). The most frequently occurring type
of fraud was false documentations (£977 000) followed by theft of assets (£640 100) in
1997/98.

In the USA, the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners in 1996 published a Fraud
Report (Association of Certified Fraud Examiners, 1996). It collected the experience of 2608
Certified Fraud Examiners. They studied $15 billion of cases, and established that fraud and
abuse cost US organisations more than $400 billion annually. Men commit 75 % of frauds,
with small businesses being the most vulnerable. The most common account affected by
fraud was cash, with fraudulent financial statements accounting for about 5 % of cases.

Third, in Australia and New Zealand, KPMG carried out a Fraud Survey in 2004
(KPMG, 2004). Its main findings were that 45 % of its respondents experienced at least one
fraud, with a loss of $456.7 million and 27 657 instances of fraud. The typical fraudster
was male, about 31 years old, with no prior record of dishonesty, in a non-management
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position who misappropriated funds of $337 734 and acting alone was motivated by greed.
The most common fraud by managers was the theft of inventory/plant, followed by the
misappropriation of funds, cheque forgery and false invoicing.

Fourth, Ernst & Young carry out an annual survey of fraud. Their 2002 survey found that
85 % of frauds were by insiders on the payroll (Ernst & Young, 2002). Generally, more
frauds happened in less developed regions, such as Africa, than in more developed regions,
like Europe. The size of more than half the losses was less than $100 000.

In general, financial statement fraud can be categorised in two major ways. First, it
is when a company uses accounting practices which are outside those permitted by the
regulatory framework. In other words, they are not allowed by accounting standards or
accounting laws. Generally, to be designated as fraud these practices will have been shown
to be fraudulent in a court of law. Often, it is difficult to distinguish between creative
accounting and fraud as it will all be a matter of interpreting the basic assumptions that
underpin accounting.

The second major type of fraud is where transactions have been invented. In other
words, non-existent transactions have been recorded in the books, such as fictitious sales or
fictitious inventory. For example, in the USA there have been two high-profile fraud cases
in the twentieth century that have involved substantial fraud. In McKesson and Robbins a
fictitious subsidiary had been invented, while in the case of the Equity Funding Corporation
of America a whole edifice of false insurance policies had been constructed.

1.2.3 Other Terms

There are many other terms which are used in connection with creative accounting. Some
of these are discussed below. They are also set out more formally in Figure 1.3.

Aggressive accounting

This is a very similar term to creative accounting. It involves the use of accounting rules and
regulations to deliver a particular result, but working within the regulatory system.

Earnings management

This involves using the flexibility within accounting to deliver a predetermined profit. This may be, for
example, to meet a consensus earnings figure expected by city analysts.

Impression management

This represents an attempt by the management of the firm to give to users the impression of the firm
which managers want. This will include creative accounting. However, impression management is
more usually associated with presentational issues such as accounting narratives and graphs.

Profit smoothing

This involves the use of accounting techniques to ensure a steady profit. In other words, the natural
peaks and troughs of accounting profit are eliminated.

Figure 1.3 Other terms used in creative accounting
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1.2.3.1 Aggressive Accounting

This term is broadly the same as creative accounting. It is the use of accounting rules and
regulations to deliver a particular set of financial results. It involves the deliberate choice
of accounting figures which will have more to do with achieving a specific managerial
objective, such as increased earnings, rather than presenting a true and fair view. In this
book, aggressive accounting is seen to be broadly synonymous with creative accounting.

1.2.3.2 Earnings Management

Earnings management is a term commonly used by academics. There have been numerous
academic papers written on all aspects of the subject. Earnings management is where
managers manage the accounts in order to achieve a specific objective. So, for example, it
is common practice for analysts to issue profit forecasts for firms trading on the world’s
stock exchanges. Firms like to meet these forecasts because if they do not, share prices
of the errant companies often fall. Firms which are falling short of their targets will,
therefore, sometimes seek to manage their profits. There are many other examples of
earnings management. For example, to ensure that debt covenants are not breached, for
profit smoothing, or to sustain earnings and share price in takeovers. A fuller discussion of
the earnings management literature is given in Chapter 5.

1.2.3.3 Impression Management

Impression management involves managers influencing the financial reports in their favour.
It is not fraudulent. It is a very wide term and although it includes creative accounting, it is
normally more associated with the presentational aspects of reporting such as accounting
narratives, graphs and photographs. Accounting narratives, such as the Chairman’s State-
ment in the UK and the Management Discussion and Analysis in the USA, may be subject
to narrative enhancement. In other words, management may present news selectively, bias
the news or use attribution (attribute good news to themselves but attribute bad news to
uncontrollable external influences such as world events).

There are many possible ways in which graphs might be used creatively. For example,
they may only be used when there is a favourable trend to display. Or alternatively they
might be drawn so as to enhance favourable results and downplay unfavourable results.
Finally, photographs may be used to present an overall image of the company. For ex-
ample, many of the high-profile oil companies use nature photographs to try to present a
green image. A fuller discussion of the impression management literature is provided in
Chapter 6.

1.2.3.4 Profit Smoothing

The stock market generally rewards companies that produce steady profits, but penalises
those with erratic profits. Companies therefore will prefer to report steady year-on-year
growth rather than confront the market with volatile profits. Company managers will,
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therefore, use various techniques to smooth profits. Essentially this means massaging down
high profits and enhancing poor profits. Fortunately for the creative accountant, lots of
opportunities arise for massaging profits. The company can, for example, use provision or
‘cookie jar’ accounting. This is where a firm may set up a provision for an expense one
year. This will reduce profits. The next year it may reverse the provision saying that the
expenses it expected to incur were overestimated. Consequently, in year two profits will
be more because of the reversed provision. Companies can then save up their profits for a
rainy day.

1.3 STRUCTURE OF THE BOOK

I will now briefly outline the contents of the rest of the book. In the rest of Part A, the context
of creative accounting is examined. This draws upon existing academic and professional
literature. In Chapter 2, I look at the main actors involved in creative accounting: managers,
investment analysts, auditors, regulators, shareholders, merchant bankers and other users.
The different interests which these groups have are highlighted. Managers may benefit from
creative accounting as it gives them the flexibility to deliver the results they want. Existing
shareholders may also gain, unless the company collapses, due to its enhanced share prices
caused by creative accounting. For merchant bankers, there may be potentially lucrative
fees to be earned by creating complex creative accounting schemes. By contrast, other
groups are harmed by creative accounting. Regulators dislike creative accounting because
it can be used to bypass accounting rules and undermines the currency of accounting.
Shareholders, and other users, may suffer if the company collapses. For auditors, creative
accounting creates a potential conflict with management, and also a potential problem if
the company collapses as the auditor may be blamed.

The motivations to indulge in creative accounting and fraud are varied and are examined
in Chapter 3. There are two sets of general incentives: personal and city. The personal
incentives relate to the managers. They may wish, for example, to try to increase their
salaries, bonuses, enhance their shares and share options. In other words, there are incentives
for them to manipulate accounting policies in order to maximise their own personal benefit.
They also may wish to meet city expectations. If the business does not deliver the expected
profits then its share price may be punished. As a result, managers will try to meet analysts’
expectations and may indulge in profit smoothing or in other creative accounting techniques.

There are also a range of special circumstances. For example, managers may wish to
increase net assets so as to stop breaching debt covenants or creative accounting may be
used to increase the share price of a company when it is purchasing another through a share
issue. In certain circumstances, there may also be incentives to reduce profits. For example,
in regulated industries when governments may penalise excessive profits or in situations
where a new incoming management team may wish to make the current year’s profits worse
so that future profits will look better.

There are numerous ways of exploiting the inherent flexibility of accounting so as to
indulge in creative accounting. In Chapter 4, I look at four main strategies: increasing
income, decreasing expenses, increasing assets and decreasing liabilities.
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1.3.1 Increase Income

The aim here is to maximise revenues which will feed directly into profit. There are
several main ways. Generally, these will involve the premature recognition of sales or the
maximisation of other income such as interest receivable or non-operating profit. In most
cases, these techniques will exploit the flexibility in accounting regulation. However, in
some cases completely fictitious sales will be created. At its most extreme, as in McKesson
and Robbins in the USA in 1931, a wholly fictitious trading subsidiary was set up. More
recently in Germany, as we will see in Chapter 10, at Flowtex, fictitious drilling machines
were ‘manufactured’ and ‘leased’.

1.3.2 Decrease Expenses

By decreasing expenses, profit is naturally increased. Expenses can be decreased in a
number of ways. For example, in provision accounting, in good years expenses will be set
up for provisions such as restructuring. Then, in bad years these provisions can be fed back
into the profit and loss account reducing expenses and increasing profits. Such provisions
are particularly popular on acquisition or when a new management takes over a company.
Other ways of decreasing expenses can be (i) to capitalise expenses such as interest payable
so that they are recorded as assets not expenses, or (ii) to lengthen asset lives so as to reduce
depreciation, or (iii) to reduce bad debts. Finally, a good way of decreasing expenses is to
increase closing inventory. Closing inventory is taken off cost of sales and thus by increasing
closing inventory, cost of sales is reduced and profits increased.

1.3.3 Increase Assets

Many of the strategies that decreased expenses will also boost assets. Thus, lengthening
depreciation levels and capitalising interest will boost fixed assets, while reducing bad debts
will increase accounts receivable. However, some other techniques can be used to increase
assets. For example, goodwill, brands and other intangible assets can be enhanced in value
and included in the accounts. In addition, tangible fixed accounts can be revalued.

1.3.4 Decrease Liabilities

Another way of increasing net assets is by decreasing liabilities. Two common ways are
oft-balance sheet financing and reclassifying debt as equity. Off-balance sheet financing
attempts to quarantine debt in subsidiary companies which are not then consolidated.
Enron, for example, set up numerous off-balance sheet subsidiaries. Reclassifying debt as
equity seeks to classify outside, third-party debt as insider capital. This serves to reduce
the apparent levels of debt.

There have been many studies into creative accounting, and both descriptive and statistical
studies are discussed in Chapter 5. The descriptive studies, reports and books discuss and
provide illustrative examples of creative accounting. In the statistical studies, large numbers
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of company accounts are typically analysed by accounting academics to see if they can
discern any aggregate evidence of creative accounting.

The eight books and two reports present an impressive array of evidence about creative
accounting and fraud both in the UK and the USA. Innovative methods and illustrations of
creative accounting are documented. For example, UBS Phillips & Drew in Accounting for
Growth in 1991 looked at 185 well-known UK companies’ annual reports. They identified
11 creative accounting techniques and then showed which UK companies used them as
well as using vignettes to illustrate individual practices (UBS Phillips & Drew, 1991).

The statistical studies have looked at a range of issues and generally have found evidence
supportive of the existence of creative accounting.

e Companies were found to income smooth. In other words, companies increased profits
in poor years, but decreased them in good years.

e Companies used creative accounting to meet their own annual earnings forecasts and also
those of market analysts.

e Managers manipulated earnings so that they could receive higher bonuses.

e Companies manipulated earnings and net asset values so as not to breach their debt
covenants.

o Certain companies, particularly those in regulated industries, manipulated their earnings
so as to ward off government interference.

e When there was a change of management, especially when the changes were forced,
then incoming managers, in particular, were found to decrease income in the year of
changeover so that future profits could be enhanced.

¢ In takeover situations, it was found that acquiring companies’ earnings increased before
the acquisition. This increased share prices and thus meant acquiring companies had to
pay fewer shares for their acquisitions. Similarly, company earnings increased before a
share issue.

e Those firms which failed to meet analysts’ expectations were more likely to make dis-
closures to attempt to manage stock market reactions.

The use of accounting narratives, graphs and photographs to manage impressions is outlined
in Chapter 6. Impression management is where managers present the numbers and narratives
in an annual report in such a way as to give users a particular impression of the firm’s results.
Managers may, for example, use accounting narratives to:

(1) stress the positive and downplay the negative;
(i) convey bad news by using technical language which is difficult to read;
(iii) use differential reporting, with companies reporting bad news focusing less on the
actual results and preferring to focus on the future;
(iv) use attribution to take the credit themselves for good news, while blaming the envi-
ronment for bad news.

Managers can use graphs for impression management in three ways. First, by being
selective in their use and presenting only those graphs which convey good news (selectivity).
Second, by drawing graphs which present an enhanced picture of the company’s underlying
performance (measurement distortion). Third, by enhancing the presentation of graphs using
a variety of presentational techniques (presentational enhancement). Finally, photographs



14 Creative Accounting, Fraud and International Accounting Scandals

can be used to create an overall impression of a firm. Thus, companies selling alcohol may
try to convey a fun-loving, exciting environment.

Accounting scandals have always been with us. The role of creative accounting and fraud
in them has always been fairly fluid. One period’s creative accounting can, after a change
in accounting rules and regulations, become a subsequent period’s fraud. Chapter 7 looks
at accounting scandals over time and shows the role played by creative accounting and
fraud.

Eighteen different examples of accounting scams and scandals are outlined across five
time periods: the ancient and medieval period; the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries; the
nineteenth century; the twentieth century up to 1945; and the twentieth century from 1945
up to the 1980s. The cases range from the doctoring of a cruciform monument in the second
millennium BC in Mesopotamia in an attempt to convince the King that the revenues of the
temple were greater than they actually were to the Renouf and Judge corporations in New
Zealand in the 1980s, where creative accounting was apparently used to enhance earnings
and share price (see Chapter 7). Geographically, the countries where scandals occur are
diverse: Australia, Italy, Mesopotamia, New Zealand, the UK and the USA.

These illustrative examples include clear examples of creative accounting, such as P&O’s
manipulation of the results of its New Zealand subsidiary at the start of the twentieth century
so as to transfer funds secretly to the UK to frauds such as Equity Funding of America. In
this latter case, more than $3 billion life insurance policies were found to be fraudulent.

In Part B, we look at accounting scandals in 12 different countries. The main countries
(with the authors and the most important cases presented) are shown in Table 1.1.

The author(s) of each chapter were asked to analyse cases of creative accounting, fraud
and accounting scandals in their respective countries since the 1980s. In particular, they
were asked to discuss, explain and evaluate the major accounting scandals. In addition, as
a final chapter (Chapter 20) in this Part, we look at the global banking crisis. This chapter
written by Simon Norton deals with the major recent US cases of Bear Stearns, Lehman
Brothers and Madoff Securities International Ltd.

In Table 1.1, I list the countries, the authors and the major cases in each country. Usually,
this is one case, such as HIH in Australia, but in Germany, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden
and the USA, two cases are covered. In Japan, three major cases are identified across the
period. As we see below, the authors discuss not only these major cases, but also instances
of creative accounting and other important scandals that have occurred, usually post-1980.
I now look, briefly, at these major chapters.

Gary Carnegie and Brendan O’Connell look at accounting scandals in Australia in
Chapter 8. They demonstrate that Australia has a long history of accounting scandals.
Five case studies are examined, in depth: Adelaide Steamship, Bond Corporation, Harris
Scarfe, One.Tel and HIH. In particular, they focus on HIH, which in 2001 was the largest
ever corporate collapse in Australia’s history. They show that HIH collapsed through
underprovisioning and from mismanagement.

Accounting scandals in China are investigated in Chapter 9 by Catherine Chen, Yuanyuan
Hu and Jason Xiao. They focus on six accounting scandals (Yuanye, Great Wall Fund
Raising, Hongguang, Daqing Lianyi, Kangsai Group and Lantian Gufen) before carrying
out an in-depth study into Zhenzhou Baiwen. Zhenzhou Baiwen, a company involved in
household appliances and department stores, appeared to be very successful. However, at
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Table 1.1 Main countries discussed in this book

Chapter Country Authors Major cases
8 Australia Garry Carnegie HIH Insurance
Brendan O’Connell
9 China Catherine Chen Zhenzhou Baiwen
Yuanyuan Hu
Jason Xiao
10 Germany Hansrudi Lenz ComRoad
Flowtex
11 Greece George Kontos Bank of Crete

Maria Krambia-Kapardis
Nikolaos Milonas

12 India Bhabatosh Banerjee Satyam
13 Italy Andrea Melis Parmalat
14 Japan Kazuyuki Suda Kanebo
Livedoor
Nikko Cordial
15 Netherlands Henk Langendijk Royal Ahold
16 Spain Nieves Carrera Afinsa and Férum
Filatélico
17 Sweden Gunnar Rimmel ABB
Kristina Jonill Skandia
18 United Kingdom David Gwilliam Polly Peck
Richard Jackson
19 United States Charles Mulford Enron
Eugene Comiskey WorldCom

the turn of the new millennium it ran into trouble and the authors show that its apparent
success was based on creative accounting and fictitious sales.

Chapter 10, on accounting scandals in Germany, was written by Hansrudi Lenz. He
looks at six important cases: Co-op, Balsam, Bremer Vulkan Verbund, Philipp Holzmann,
Flowtex and ComRoad. Flowtex and ComRoad are particularly interesting. They both
involve extensive frauds. Flowtex manufactured and leased fictitious drilling equipment,
while ComRoad’s CEO and his wife had virtually constructed a fictitious customer/supplier.

Accounting scandals in another European country, Greece, are analysed in Chapter
11. Three cases are singled out for special attention by George Kontos, Maria Krambia-
Kapardis and Nikolaos Milonas: ETBA Finance, Dynamic Life and the Bank of Crete. The
Bank of Crete was a major scandal in which one man, George Koskotas, systematically
used weaknesses in the internal accounting system of the bank to embezzle huge sums of
money. The wider implications of the case for the Greek economic and political structure
are examined.
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In Chapter 12 we move to India. Bhabatosh Banerjee demonstrates first that creative ac-
counting is very common in India. He outlines eight different instances of creative account-
ing, ranging from the creation and write-back of provisions by Bombay Dyeing and Manu-
facturing Company to the capitalisation of interest by companies such as the Oil and Natural
Gas Commission. Only one major Indian case is dealt with, Satyam — not because there are
no more, but because the Indian judicial process is very long and they are still sub judice.

Andrea Melis investigates creative accounting and accounting scandals in Italy in Chapter
13. He looks at Pirelli’s legal but creative use of consolidation accounting, before looking
at the topics of stock options and creative accounting within football clubs. Then, Professor
Melis investigates the most spectacular accounting fraud in Italy: Parmalat. He demonstrates
that at Parmalat there was falsification of earnings, assets and liabilities with poor internal
controls and serious failings by the external auditors.

Next, in Chapter 14, Kazuyuki Suda investigates a series of high-profile accounting
scandals in Japan. Ten scandals are analysed: Sanyo Special Steel, Fuji Sash, Sawako, Sanyo
Electric, Livedoor, Morimoto-gumi, Nikko Cordial, Riccar, Yamaichi and Kanebo. These
scandals were apparently motivated by the avoidance of bankruptcy and by the need to fulfil
public construction contracts and managerial compensation. The Kanebo case is particularly
interesting, and represents the largest ever amount of earnings manipulation in Japan. It
resulted in the break-up of the auditing firm ChuoAoyama PricewaterhouseCoopers.

In Chapter 15, Henk Langendijk looks at the Dutch experience of accounting scandals.
First of all, he looks at two relatively minor accounting scandals at Rijn Schelde-Verolme
(RSV) and Fokker. He then focuses on one major company accounting scandal, Royal
Ahold. At Royal Ahold, consolidation and vendor allowances were both abused.

In Chapter 16, Nieves Carrera examines major financial scandals in Spain. First of
all, accounting scandals in the banking sector, such as Caja Rural de Jaen and Banesto,
are discussed. An important scandal in the investment services sector, Gescartera, is then
studied. The third sector that Professor Carrera examines is the real estate sector, with the
case of Promotora Social de Viviendas and Iniciativas de Gestion de Servicios. Finally, two
major scandals involving investment in stamps, Afinsa and Férum Filatélico, are examined.
Both companies are found to have indulged in many accounting irregularities.

The Swedish chapter, Chapter 17, was written by Gunnar Rimmel and Kristina Jonill,
who look at four major accounting scandals: Fermenta, Prosolvia, ABB and Skandia.
The latter two cases are covered in depth. ABB’s accounting was found to be hard to
decipher, with continual reorganisations and the redemption of its own shares. Skandia, an
insurance company, used embedded value accounting which led the company to appear to
be prosperous despite significant negative cash flows.

In Chapter 18, David Gwilliam and Richard Jackson investigate creative accounting
and fraud in the UK. They analyse three main cases: BCCI, Mirror Group and Polly
Peck. They focus on Polly Peck. They show that this fast-growing company, involved in
food purchase, production and packaging, seemingly adopted very dubious accounting
practices. In particular, weak internal controls apparently allowed huge sums of cash to be
transferred out of the UK to Turkey. In addition, many of the financial statements for Polly
Peck’s Turkish subsidiaries appear to have been vastly inflated. Asil Nadir, who ran the
company, has, however, always protested his innocence and in August 2010 returned to face
trial.
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The penultimate chapter in Part B, Chapter 19, is on accounting scandals in the USA.
Charles Mulford and Eugene Comiskey demonstrate that in the USA since the 1990s there
have been numerous cases of premature or fictitious revenue recognition, capitalisation
of costs and/or extended amortisation periods, overstated assets and/or understated liabili-
ties, and other creative accounting practices such as the abuse of restructuring charges and
creative financial statement classification. They focus, in particular, upon Enron and World-
Com. They show that Enron’s fraud involved off-balance sheet liabilities, fictitious income
and misreported cash flow. Meanwhile, at WorldCom, the fraud — although on a massive
scale — was quite simple, involving, in particular, the capitalisation of operating expenses.

The final chapter in this section, Chapter 20, is based on the recent worldwide banking
crisis. Simon Norton shows the causes of the crisis and how accounting has been implicated
in corporate collapses. He demonstrates the role played by fair value and also by creative
accounting techniques such as off-balance sheet financing. He focuses on three important
cases: Lehman Brothers, Madoff Investment Securities and Bear Stearns. Lehman Brothers
is shown to involve creative accounting rather than fraud. Madoff’s fraud involved a ‘Ponzi’
scheme where new investors essentially funded returns to existing investors. Bear Stearns
is an example of creative accounting being used to repackage higher risk products to lower
risk ones.

In Part C of the book, I attempt to synthesise and discuss the overall findings. In Chapter
21, I look at some themes which emerged from the various chapters. I look at the major
methods used, as far as they can be identified, from the various chapters. There were exam-
ples of increasing income, decreasing expenses, increasing assets and decreasing liabilities.
Particularly popular were attempts to boost earnings through related parties, capitalising
expenses and off-balance sheet financing. There were also frequent cases of fraud, such as
embezzlement and fictitious transactions. I also look at the incentives for creative account-
ing and fraud. Generally, from the evidence in the individual chapters, this was most often
used to cover up bad performance, for personal benefit and to meet listing requirements.

In Chapter 21, I also look at three themes which emerged from prior chapters: the role of
overstrong personalities, the failure of internal controls and of internal auditing. First, there
were many examples of how overstrong individuals used the power of their personalities to
carry all before them. They managed to convince investors and the wider business world to
trust them. Second, many instances of a failure of internal controls were identified. These
included ineffective boards of directors, lack of independent scrutiny via non-executive
directors or supervisory boards, and failure of internal audit. Finally, in many cases across
the accounting scandals, there was evidence of a severe failure of external auditing.

In Chapter 22, the penultimate chapter, I investigate, using the evidence from prior
country chapters and the longitudinal chapter, the immediate and long-term impact of
creative accounting and the international accounting scandals. In the short term, there are
effects upon both insiders and outsiders. Directors are most often fined or jailed. Auditors
are often sanctioned, while investors and creditors often lose money. The longer-term effects
may involve new regulatory measures to stop abuses. Over time, the regulatory framework
becomes more sophisticated.

Finally, in Chapter 23, I summarise the main findings from the book in terms of prior
literature and the individual country studies. I look at certain key themes examined, such
as the motivation for individuals to indulge in creative accounting and fraud, the main
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methods of creative accounting, the role of overstrong personalities, the failures of internal
controls and external auditing. I then consider some lessons for the future. I examine how
the potential for creative accounting and fraud is enhanced by motives and environmental
opportunities. I then evaluate some potential solutions, such as more appropriate rewards
and incentives, better regulations, enhanced supervision, harsher penalties and improved
ethics. Finally, I suggest that whatever the attempts to prevent creative accounting and
fraud, history suggests that international accounting scandals are likely to continue in one
form or another.

1.4 CONCLUSION

The term ‘creative accounting’ can be defined in many ways. In particular, a broad defi-
nition of the term includes fraud. The narrower definition, as preferred by this book, sees
creative accounting as using the flexibility in accounting within the regulatory framework
to manage the measurement and presentation of the accounts so that they give primacy
to the interests of the preparers not the users. Creative accounting is not therefore illegal,
and works within the current regulatory framework. Fraud, by contrast, is illegal. Fraud
involves working outside the regulatory framework. The term ‘fraud’, however, in this
book is reserved for cases which have been tried in court or by regulatory commissions.
Otherwise, the term ‘alleged fraud’ is used. Other terms associated with creative account-
ing are aggressive accounting, earnings management, impression management and profit
smoothing. Aggressive accounting in this book is broadly considered to be synonymous
with creative accounting. Earnings management involves using the flexibility within ac-
counting to deliver a predetermined profit. This may be, for example, to meet a consensus
earnings figure expected by city analysts or to profit smooth. Impression management can
include earnings management. More particularly, it is concerned with the presentation of
the accounts, in particular accounting narratives, graphs and photographs. Finally, profit
smoothing involves the use of accounting techniques to ensure a steady profit. In other
words, the natural peaks and troughs of accounting profit are eliminated.

This book looks at the use of creative accounting and fraud in a global context across
12 countries from Asia, Australasia, Europe and North America. Representatives of both
developed and developing countries are thus included. The motives, methods and conse-
quences of the major accounting scandals are examined. There is also consideration of
the role played by accounting in recent bank failures. Then, some overall conclusions are
drawn which identify the major motivations for the scandals, the major methods of creative
accounting and fraud used, the role of overstrong individuals, internal and external control
failures, and regulatory and other consequences.
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2

The Creative Accounting and Fraud

Environment

Michael Jones

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Creative accounting and fraud do not occur in a vacuum. There are a number of interested
parties. These range from managers, investment analysts, auditors, regulators, shareholders,
merchant bankers to other users. As can be seen from Figure 2.1, all of these parties play a
key role in creative accounting. In the case of fraud, the legal authorities will also take an
interest. The corporate environment of the firm and economic climate are also important.
There needs to be, in particular, effective corporate governance. For instance, Crutchley,
Jensen and Marshall (2007, p. 53) comment: ‘[W]e find that the corporate environment
most likely to lead to an accounting scandal is characterised by rapid growth, with high
earnings smoothing, fewer outsiders on the audit committee, and outsider directors that
seemed overcommitted.” Finally, the economic environment of the company, or the personal
circumstances of an individual, are important. Creative accounting and fraud are more likely
when a company is facing financial difficulties.

The managers set the creative accounting agenda. They wish to portray the accounts in
a light favourable to themselves. This may be to increase profits or increase net assets. The
flexibility in accounting allows them to select accounting techniques which can deliver the
profit figure that serves their interests. As we will see in Chapter 3, there are a variety of mo-
tivations why managers may wish specifically to adopt creative accounting. Managers may
take professional advice from, for example, merchant banks to devise creative accounting
schemes which, while complying with the letter of the law, transgress its spirit. Regulators
seek to control and limit creative accounting by setting rules and regulations. Over time,
the regulatory framework will be shaped by creative accounting and will, in turn, shape
creative accounting. Meanwhile, the auditors will seek to ensure that the accounts are ‘true
and fair’ and will use the regulatory framework as a legitimation tool and reference point.
Whereas the managers set the agenda, the users attempt to detect creative accounting and
cope with its consequences. Investment analysts are seeking to price stocks and shares
efficiently; they will, therefore, seek to adjust the accounts for creative accounting. For
ordinary shareholders, creative accounting can affect the share price and they will also wish
to try to detect it. If a company gets into difficulties or, even worse, goes bankrupt, they
will be major losers. Finally, bankers and creditors would worry that creative accounting
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Figure 2.1 The parties to creative accounting

could be used to cover up poor results and leave them exposed if the company collapses.
All of these are affected by creative accounting in different ways.

In terms of the corporate environment of the firm, good corporate governance will
minimize the opportunities for creative accounting, and particularly fraud. There need to
be, for example, effective internal controls, the presence of independent non-executive
directors, the segregation of chairman and chief executive officer, and an independent audit
committee. Finally, the economic environment of the company and individual is important.

2.2 THE MAIN ACTORS
2.2.1 Managers

For managers, creative accounting is a way to influence the accounts. Managers have
their own agenda. In theory, managers manage the companies which are owned by the
shareholders. They are, therefore, in effect, stewards and should run the companies for the
good of the shareholders. However, in practice, self-interest may dictate that managers may
wish to use the flexibility within the accounting system, provided by creative accounting,
to manage the results in certain ways. There may be managerial incentives to increase or
decrease profits, or to increase assets or decrease liabilities. These incentives may vary. For
example, there may be personal incentives for managers to use creative accounting, such
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as to increase profit as their salary may be profit-related or they may have shares whose
value is dependent on the company’s underlying earnings. Or the managers may wish to
meet city expectations of profit forecasts and need to manipulate profits to achieve them.
Or there may be special circumstances, such as a need to boost net assets so as to avoid
violating debt covenants. These motivations for creative accounting are discussed in more
detail in the next chapter. If the yearly profit figures do not ‘deliver’ the right results when
prepared under normal, generally accepted accounting principles, the managers may turn
to creative accounting. If they do not, then managers may be afraid that the share price
might fall or that they personally might lose out, perhaps through a reduced bonus.

The personal circumstances of managers may contribute to the pressures on them. For
example, an excessive lifestyle, gambling or debts will make fraud, in particular, more likely.
Also, there is a need for three preconditions to exist: the opportunity to indulge in creative
accounting or fraud, the knowledge of how to do it, and the pressure of acceptable self-
verbalizations to convince themselves that their behaviour is morally acceptable (Cressey,
1983).

From the perspective of the creative accountant, creative accounting is relatively easy to
achieve. There are potentially hundreds of different items in the accounts — all of which
have the potential to be used creatively. As we see in Chapter 4, sales can be increased,
expenses decreased, assets increased or liabilities decreased so as to increase profit or
net assets. Alternatively, sales can be decreased, expenses increased, assets decreased and
liabilities increased if the company wants to decrease profits or net assets. Similarly, in the
presentation of the accounts managers can use accounting narratives, graphs or photographs
to manage the impression of the company’s performance which is conveyed.

The creative accountant is aided in his creativity by the fact that it is often extremely
difficult for an outsider to detect creative accounting. To take a simple example: a company
is operating a fleet of lorries and each lorry will do 100000 miles in its working life.
Currently, each lorry’s estimated annual mileage is 20 000 miles. Each lorry costs £50 000
and, therefore, £10 000 is written off each lorry each year in depreciation. If the managers
think that next year the lorry will only do 10 000 miles, then depreciation will fall to £5000
per year. Profit will increase by £5000. This is true and fair and reflects economic reality.
It is not creative accounting. However, there may be pressures on managers to interpret the
amount of miles the lorries will do generously, so as to reduce profit. This is then creative
accounting. This managerial interpretation is helped by the fact that we are looking to the
future and relying on estimates and assumptions. It is often not possible for an outsider
to know whether the manager is being creative or not. Managers themselves will argue
that they are either taking generous or prudent views of the underlying assumptions and
estimates which underpin accounting transactions. The situation is complicated by the fact
that different managers would take different views and that there are potentially many true
and fair views. It is this subjectivity that makes creative accounting so easy to carry out and
so difficult to detect. Ultimately, it is only the managers themselves that know whether or
not they are being creative.

Sometimes, managers start with creative accounting: stretching the accounting assump-
tions to their limit by, for example, manipulating depreciation charges or inventory valu-
ation. If this fails to achieve the desired accounting figures, the creative accountant may
move on to become a potential fraudster working outside the regulatory system or even
inventing fictitious transactions.
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2.2.2 Investment Analysts

Investment analysts operate in the city and investigate the accounts of companies so that
stocks and shares can be priced efficiently. In order to do this effectively they need to be
able to spot and detect creative accounting and, indeed, fraud. However, there is a lot of
evidence to show that they often spot neither. For example, Gwilliam and Russell (1991)
showed that in 1989 analysts failed to spot that Polly Peck’s earnings were overstated or that
the company was losing huge amounts on its overseas borrowings. Indeed, only days before
one of the most spectacular collapses in British corporate history, analysts were predicting
a substantial increase in profits. In another example, Breton and Taffler (2001) presented
analysts with a set of doctored accounts. They used nine creative accounting techniques
across different accounting areas, for example, deferred taxation, pensions, off-balance
sheet financing and hidden interest charges. Very few analysts actually adjusted, or even
detected, any of the creative accounting practices that had been used.

Although analysts are supposed to be independent observers of the companies they follow,
in practice, they may not be. This is because the merchant banks, which they work for, may
be employed in other consultancy capacities by these companies. As a result, the analysts
may hedge their reports on the companies and, for example, give ‘hold’ recommendations
rather than sell recommendations on shares.

2.2.3 Regulators

Regulators are keen to control creative accounting. Accounting rules and regulations are
designed to be flexible enough to deliver a true and fair view. That is enough flexibility
for the regulators. The regulators fear that creative accounting will debase the currency of
accounting. In other words, as with Gresham’s Law in economics, in which bad money
drives out good, they are concerned that bad accounting will drive out good accounting. Over
time, both national and international regulatory frameworks have grown up. Accounting
scandals occur regularly, and a common consequence is the introduction of new rules
and regulations aimed at preventing a new scandal. Similarly, creative accounting tends to
erode the currency of accounting in a more insidious way, but also indirectly leads to more
regulations.

Let us take three examples. First, in the UK in 1969 there was a takeover by General
Electric Company (GEC) of Associated Electrical Industries (AEI). As part of their defence,
AEI published a forecast of £10 million profit. However, in the end AEI made a £4.5 million
loss. Much of this £14.5 million shortfall was attributable to the flexibility of accounting
and, although the term was not yet in common usage, arguably to creative accounting. The
ensuing controversy was an important contributory factor in the setting up, for the first time
in the UK, of a standard-setting body, the Accounting Standards Committee. Second, in the
UK one of the main reasons for the creation of the Accounting Standards Board in 1990 was
that, after several high-profile accounting scandals, such as BCCI, Mirror Group and Polly
Peck, there was a need to tighten up and improve existing accounting standards. The existing
Accounting Standards Committee was not thought to be effective enough. Similarly, the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act was an attempt by US regulators to crack down on accounting abuses
in the USA after a series of high-profile accounting scandals such as Enron and WorldCom.
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Essentially, therefore, the regulators are involved in a never-ending battle with the creative
accountant. In most countries today, there is a complex set of accounting regulations — often
comprising a mixture of companies’ acts, accounting standards, government regulations and
Securities and Exchange Commission regulations. The exact mix will vary from country
to country. Also at the international level, the International Accounting Standards Board
sets international accounting standards. In combination, this regulatory framework strives
to deliver to users a view of the company that is in compliance with generally accepted
accounting principles. In many countries there is also the belief that the financial statements
should comply with ‘economic reality’, generally expressed as ‘a true and fair view’ (as in
the European Union), or to present fairly (as in the USA). The regulators’ job is hindered
by the fact that the very flexibility in the accounts that is essential to deliver a true and fair
view is the same that can be used by the creative accountant to deliver a ‘creative view’.

2.2.4 Auditors

For auditors, creative accounting and, more particularly, fraud create a real headache. The
auditors’ job is to check the accounts to see that they provide a fair presentation of the results.
Creative accounting arguably prevents the creation of a true and fair view. In particular,
auditors will be scared that if a company has used questionable accounting practices and
then subsequently collapses, they will be blamed. Technically, auditors should issue a
qualified report if they notice anything amiss. However, in many high-profile corporate
collapses such as Polly Peck or Enron, there was no warning from the audited companies’
pre-collapse accounts of impending problems. Nor is this unusual in cases of corporate
collapse. County Natwest Woodmac, for example, investigated the accounts of 45 UK
companies which collapsed in 1990. They found that in only three companies had auditors
qualified the accounts. In the USA, Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999) found that 78
out of 141 auditors’ reports, on the last financial statements before a fraud was detected,
were clean. In Chapter 10 of this book, in Germany it was reported that in only three
out of 24 cases, where misstatements were detected by the German Financial Reporting
Enforcement Panel, had the auditors spotted the financial reporting irregularity. However,
strictly speaking, even if the auditors do suspect creative accounting, as it is within the law
there is very little that they can realistically do. If the auditors qualify the accounts, they
will be worried that it will accelerate a company’s collapse, as it will erode the confidence
of investors. On a more mercenary level, they will probably lose the audit fee and be asked
to step down as auditors. However, if the auditors do not spot creative accounting, and more
particularly fraud, then there are grave risks to their reputation. They may well be sued by
investors in negligence cases. Often auditors will lean heavily on the regulatory framework
to help them justify their actions in relation to creative accounting. It is thus essential for a
country to have effective rules and regulations to which the auditors can turn.

A particular problem for auditors is maintaining sufficient independence from their
clients. This is complicated. Although it is, in theory, the shareholders who appoint auditors,
in practice, this appointment is made generally on the recommendation of management.
There is the perennial problem that it is the management that pay the auditors who report
on them. Auditors need to be careful that this does not compromise their position. The
situation is further complicated by the fact that it has been argued that the auditors in
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the 1990s became compromised by their consultancy revenues. As Duska (2005, p. 21)
commented on the US accounting environment: Accounting firms also got caught. It was
no accident that since the majority of revenues and hence profits for accounting firms in
the 1990s began to come from consulting rather than auditing, accounting firms lost their
focus on the importance of responsible auditing. This was highlighted, in particular, by the
collapse of Arthur Andersen whose consultancy income from Enron was more than that
from auditing.

With fraud the issues are more clear-cut, but again fraud can be difficult to detect. This
is particularly so when it is a matter of interpreting accounting rules and regulations. It
becomes an argument about the underlying estimates and assumptions to draw up the
accounts. The situation can be very serious, especially when there is systematic fraud. If
the auditors do not spot creative accounting, and more particularly fraud, then there are
grave risks to their reputation. They may well be sued by investors in negligence cases. At
the very least, the auditors may be taken to court and sued if an accounting scandal leads
to a company’s collapse. For example, Stoy Hayward, a British auditor, faced a fine of
£75 000 and was ordered to pay £250 000 in costs after the collapse of Polly Peck (Perry,
2002). In more severe cases, the auditing company may collapse entirely. This was the
case with Arthur Andersen, in the USA. Andersen’s were the auditors of Enron, and one of
the auditors was found shredding incriminating documents. In Japan, in 2006, a Japanese
auditing firm, ChuoAoyama PricewaterhouseCoopers, was found guilty of negligence in
auditing Kanebo. As a result, its audits of 2000 Japanese firms were suspended.

2.2.5 Shareholders

For external shareholders, creative accounting can be a blessing or a curse. It really depends
on what happens to the company. If the company continues to trade, shareholders may
actually gain in the short term because creative accounting, if used to give a more flattering
view of a firm than is warranted, may actually artificially inflate a share’s price. However,
the danger to the shareholder is that if the company collapses then the shareholders stand to
lose their money. The shareholders of Enron, and many other failed companies, thus have
every reason to resent creative accounting for, by aiding the collapse of Enron, creative
accounting caused them to lose money. In an even more extreme nineteenth-century case,
the shareholders of the City of Glasgow Bank, which collapsed in 1878, had unlimited
liability. As a result of a fraud which was not their fault, the majority of the bank’s investors
were made bankrupt. A particular problem for external shareholders is that they are not privy
to information about the true state of a company. Insider shareholders, such as managers,
may be able to sell their shares using inside knowledge to avoid financial loss.

2.2.6 Merchant Banks

Creative accounting schemes can be very complex. Accountants will often turn to merchant
banks for advice on creative accounting schemes. In the Enron scandal, for example,
questions were raised about the role of banks in setting up complex deals to set up off-
balance sheet financing schemes. The criticism was particularly strong in the US Senate.
Iwata (2002) states that at the US Senate Permanent Subcommittee during a ten-hour
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hearing there was ‘document after document appearing to show the banks and their overseas
law firms set up and ran secretive, off-shore “shell” companies that funnelled billions of
dollars in financing to Enron over the past decade’. Robert Roach, chief investigator for the
Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations stated that ‘[t]he financial institutions
were aware that Enron was using questionable accounting. They actively aided Enron in
return for fees and favourable consideration in other business dealings.” In their defence,
however, representatives from the banks stated that Enron had deceived them, they had
followed generally accepted accounting principles and that the accounting transactions
were perfectly appropriate. In effect, there was widespread press criticism as to whether
corporate advisors were compromising their ethical standards in return for fees. Whatever
the particular merits of the Enron case, merchant bankers are, in theory, arguably one of
the big gainers from creative accounting, for it is merchant bankers who potentially can
devise and peddle creative accounting schemes. As regulations get more complex, so do the
schemes of avoidance. There evolves what can be called a creative accounting arms race. A
simple creative accounting technique arises, regulators issue a regulation or standard that
curbs this technique. The merchant banker devises another scheme to get round the new
regulation. The regulator refines the accounting rules, the merchant bank then responds and
so on. This is well documented by Atul Shah (1998). He found that in the late 1980s in
the UK, merchant banks were often used by companies when issuing complex convertible
securities. Indeed, they actively marketed the schemes to companies.

2.2.7 Other Users

Finally, other users generally are potentially harmed by creative accounting. These other
users may be, for example, bankers, suppliers or employees. These groups generally depend
on the accounts to give a fair presentation of the firm’s performance. Creative accounting
produces a misleading impression which serves managerial rather than stakeholder interests.
Bankers might, for example, think that they are making loans on the basis of a healthy
balance sheet only to find later that creative accounting has been used to enhance assets
or remove liabilities. Suppliers may be lending money thinking the company has a healthy
cash flow only to find later that the cash flow has been massaged. Employees may also be
misled into thinking that the company is in a healthy position with regards to profits or cash
when, in fact, it is not.

2.2.8 Legal Authorities

In the case of an alleged fraud, the prosecutors and legal authorities will take an inter-
est. The exact mechanisms and penalties will vary from country to country. However, in
all countries there are generally institutional mechanisms in place to deal with alleged
fraudulent financial statements. For instance, in the USA from 2002, the Corporate Fraud
Task Force, the SEC and the Department of Justice are all active in fraud enforcement.
Criminal penalties for securities fraud have sentences of up to 25 years and fines of up to
$ 2 million (Green, 2004, p. 4). The former CEO of Enron, Jeffrey Skilling, for example,
received a 24-year sentence.
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2.3 EFFECTIVE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A company needs effective corporate governance to reduce the likelihood of creative
accounting and, in particular, fraud. This involves effective internal controls and effective in-
dependent scrutiny of the executive directors by non-executives. In particular, there are
perhaps four main areas which a company ought to pay attention to in order to mitigate
the risk of fraud: effective internal controls, the division of responsibility between chief
executive and chairman, an audit committee and representation on the board of directors.

2.3.1 Effective Internal Controls

Internal controls include a control environment, risk assessment and management, mon-
itoring and control activities. The presence of strong controls inhibits the possibility of
financial malpractice. The collection of controls provides a key mechanism, combined with
internal audit, whereby financial malpractice can be minimised.

2.3.2 Division of the Responsibility between Chief Executive and Chairman

One person being both chairman and chief executive is particularly dangerous. This is an
essential division of authority in the board room. It prevents the unmitigated exercise of
power by one person. Asil Nadir, for example, was CEO and chairman of Polly Peck.

2.3.3 Audit Committee

The audit committee is a relatively new development. It is responsible for supervising
the auditors. It is important that the audit committee, to be effective, is independent; in
particular, not staffed by friends, acquaintances or family members of existing executive
directors. It also needs to meet frequently and to be staffed by experienced individuals.

2.3.4 Independent Board of Directors

There is a need for the board of directors itself to be strong. To be effective, there need to be
independent non-executive directors. As with the audit committee, the board of directors
should not be friends, acquaintances or family members of existing executive directors.

2.4 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

The economic environment constitutes the overall framework within which the company
works. In times of economic downturn, companies may well face financial difficulties.
These can either be unique to the company or to the national economic cycle. In times of
a downturn there is increased pressure on the company because of potential pressure on
profits. At such times, the management will have increased motivation to increase profits.
Increased profits, in turn, will bolster the share price. As a result, there will be increased
pressure on managers to adopt creative accounting techniques. These will be used to bolster
profits. Often this is because management is waiting for the good times to return. In rare
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cases, where creative or aggressive accounting fails, there may be pressure for management
to move over the line from creative accounting to fraud.

2.5 CONCLUSION

Allin all, the various parties to creative accounting have mixed interests. Some would appear
actually to benefit from creative accounting. Managers because it gives them the flexibility
to deliver the results they want to present; existing shareholders, unless the company
collapses, because it may increase the share price. And, finally, merchant bankers, because
they can earn potentially huge fees peddling and devising complex creative accounting
schemes.

By contrast, certain other groups are harmed. Regulators dislike creative accounting
because it can be used to bypass accounting rules and regulations and this undermines the
credibility of the accounts. Auditors are scared that if creative accounting contributes to a
company’s collapse, they will be blamed and held negligent. Shareholders and other users
may also suffer if the company collapses. Suppliers and bankers may get a false sense
of security when accounts have been subject to creative accounting. Suppliers might have
been less willing to sell goods to the company and bankers less willing to lend money to
the company if they had known the company’s true situation. Finally, employees might be
misled by a company’s results. In most cases, these groups suffer no direct harm. However,
when a company collapses and creative accounting is implicated then these groups are
likely to lose money. More generally, creative accounting undermines the reliance which
investors and other users can place on the accounts. As such it serves to undermine the
general confidence in financial reporting. As a result, investors may be less likely to invest
and the economy may suffer as a result.

In fraud cases, by contrast, generally the only real gainers are the fraudsters themselves.
They will be robbing the company and defrauding the shareholders, creditors and other
users, benefiting themselves at the expense of other users. Where there is an alleged fraud,
the legal authorities will become involved.

To avoid creative accounting, and in particular fraud, it is necessary to have good corpo-
rate governance. Four elements of corporate governance are particularly important: strong
internal controls, the separation of the posts of chief executive and chairman, the existence
of an audit committee and the presence of independent directors.

Creative accounting and fraud are linked to the economic environment. In particular, when
the economy is suffering a downturn, there is increased pressure on company management
to use financial engineering to boost profits. At first, they may use creative accounting.
However, if this fails, they may resort to fraud.
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Motivations to Indulge in Creative

Accounting and Fraud

Michael Jones

3.1 INTRODUCTION

In a perfect world there would be no incentives for managers to indulge in creative ac-
counting or fraud. This is because the business operations of the company would be in
line with managerial and city expectations. Results would be excellent and bonuses and
share prices would be high. Unfortunately, however, in the real world the company does
not always live up to expectations. This is where the problems start and the temptations for
creative accounting arise. It may be very tempting to book more sales than would actually
be recorded by following the spirit of the accounting rules and regulations. Alternatively, it
might be that profits are disappointing so it might seem like a good idea to use the flexibility
in the accounting regulatory system to boost them. Finally, debt might seem a bit high and
therefore massaging it downwards might seem a good idea.

Generally the incentives will be to maximise reported sales, maximise reported prof-
its, increase net assets and decrease liabilities. However, this is not universally true. For
example, income smoothing will involve reducing profits in bumper years. Similarly, in
some cases, such as regulated industries subject to governmental price controls, it might be
prudent to reduce profits in years in which the firms could be accused of making excessive
profits. If this is not done then, there is a risk that the government may intervene to fix
prices or profits.

The incentives for fraud are similar to those for creative accounting, but they are more
extreme. In general terms, KPMG determined that the most common motivating factors
for fraud were greed, gambling and lifestyle (KPMG, 2004a). Whereas creative accounting
involves working within the regulatory framework, fraud involves working outside it.
In extreme cases, it will involve actually fabricating accounting figures such as sales.
In the case of Parmalat, for example, there was a fake Bank of America note worth
€3.950 billion. Surprisingly, given the fact that the Bank of America did not receive a
letter and there was no account, Grant Thornton received a letter in reply with the Bank
of America’s letterhead. Questions were raised as to whether the auditors had themselves
directly contacted the Bank or whether they had relied on Parmalat’s internal mail system.
In addition, at Parmalat there were fictitious sales (e.g. 300 000 tons of powdered milk
worth $620 million; Langendijk, 2004). In the City of Glasgow Bank, for example, in 1878
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the bank directors systematically used fictitious accounting entries to try to maintain the
bank’s market valuation. In McKesson and Robbins in the USA in the 1930s a wholly
fictitious subsidiary company was constructed.

Fraud commonly begins with management using creative accounting. A typical scenario
might be that a company has a poorer year than expected. As a temporary measure the firm
adopts some creative accounting techniques in order to cover up the shortfall. In the next
year, however, the company expects to be able to dispense with creative accounting. Un-
fortunately, results in the next year are even worse. The company then uses more extensive
creative accounting techniques. Eventually the company cannot deliver the expected results
within the regulatory system. Therefore, it starts on the slippery road to false accounting
and fraud. Jensen and Murphy’s (2004, p. 44) analysis of the stock market in the late 1990s
is persuasive. They argue that overvalued shares led to managers making ‘increasingly
aggressive accounting and operating decisions ... When these fail to resolve the issues,
managers, under incredible pressure, turn to further manipulation and even fraud.’!

There is an obvious analogy with compulsive gambling. The gambler starts with small
bets and loses money. Bigger bets are then made until the gambler is out of his/her depth. In
essence, this is what happened to cause the collapse of Barings, a UK bank. Nick Leeson,
a trader, gradually made bigger and bigger losing trades until, finally, his position was
untenable; he could no longer cover up his losses and was then detected. The bank could
not bear the losses of this one man’s trading and collapsed. There was almost a total failure
of the internal controls of Barings. Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999) looked at
all Accounting, Auditing and Enforcement Releases which captured violations of the US
Securities Exchange Act from January 1987 to December 1997. They found that the most
common reasons for committing fraud were to: (i) avoid a loss and bolster other financial
results; (ii) increase the share price, benefit from insider trading and obtain higher share
prices when making new issues; (iii) obtain a national stock exchange listing or avoid
delisting; and (iv) cover up assets misappropriated for personal gain. The first three of these
are also common to creative accounting.

Brennan and McGrath (2007) looked at 14 US and European fraud cases. They found
that generally the main motive was to influence share prices, particularly to meet external
forecasts and for personal gain. Meanwhile, a consultation paper by the UK’s Auditing
Practices Board (1998) reviewed recent fraud cases in the UK and concluded that 65 % of
the cases of fraud proved to be the misstatement of financial information by management
principally to maintain share prices or disguise losses. Finally, KPMG (2004b, p. 9) state
that ‘the motivations for financial statement fraud are varied, but often reflect the desire
to meet earnings forecasts, clear executive compensation hurdles linked to profitability
or market capitalisation, avoid breaching debt covenants tied to financial performance, or
cover-up poor management decisions’.

In Figure 3.1, I outline some major potential incentives for creative accounting. These
incentives may also apply for fraud, which is fortunately much rarer. There are 17 incentives
given in Figure 3.1. They can perhaps be grouped into four main categories of incentives.
The first three I term ‘personal incentives’, ‘market incentives’ and ‘special cases’. There
is also a case of it’s not illegal so why not do it? The fourth category I call ‘to cover up
fraud’. These are not necessarily discrete categories, but provide a useful framework for a

! As cited in Grant and Visconti (2006, p. 365).
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A. Personal incentives
Increased salaries

Bonus-related pay
Shares and share options
Job security

Personal satisfaction

B. Market expectations
Meeting analysts’ expectations

Profit smoothing
The norm

C. Special circumstances
Manage gearing and borrowing

New issues

Mergers and acquisitions

Decrease regulatory visibility

New management team

Waiting for the good times

Believe current regulations incorrect

Not illegal, so why shouldn’t we use creative accounting?

D. Cover-up fraud
Misappropriation of assets

Figure 3.1 Incentives for creative accounting and sometimes fraud

broad overview. In practice, in the real world, it is often difficult to disentangle the actual
incentives which have driven managerial actions.

3.1.1 Personal Incentives

There are five personal incentives: increased salaries; bonus-related pay; shares and share
options; job security and personal satisfaction. Essentially, these incentives lead the man-
agers to adopt creative accounting or fraud as they will benefit directly. In certain circum-
stances, individual managers may be in severe financial difficulties and desperately need
money. More often the motivation would seem just to be greed. Many of these incentives
have been empirically tested and found to exist (see Chapter 5).

3.1.1.1 Increased Salaries

In many cases, directors will be subject to quite extensive performance-related pay. In the
case of salaries, they may be rewarded if certain targets are reached. These may be sales
targets or profit targets. Just as a salesman may have incentives to maximise sales because
his salary is linked to profit, so directors may have similar incentives.

3.1.1.2 Bonus-related Pay

This is similar to increased salaries. However, in this case a bonus is paid if certain
results are met. Once more, managers have great incentives to use the underlying flexibility
within accounting quite legally to increase profits. Mulford and Comiskey (2002, p. 6)
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cite the case of Lawrence Coss, chairman of Green Tree Financial Corp., a US company.
His bonus was calculated as 2.5 % of Green Tree’s pre-tax profit. Mr Coss was paid in
shares, but the share price was set at a historic price much lower than market price. In
1994, 1995 and 1996, Green Tree’s profit before tax was $302 million, $410 million and
$498 million, respectively. Mr Coss’s bonus based on these amounts would, therefore, have
been $7.5 million, $10.2 million and $12.4 million, respectively. However, as he was paid
in shares he received an annual share bonus of $28.5 million in 1994, $65.1 million in 1995
and $102.0 million in 1996.

3.1.1.3 Shares and Share Options

As with Mr Coss, a common form of directors’ remuneration is the provision of shares and
share options in a company. Gary Strauss (2002) commented on the US position: ‘Stock
options have been a core part of CEO compensation plans for much of the past decade,
enriching scores of executives. But the windfalls that options can bring have created an
emphasis on short-term corporate performance and put more pressure on companies to
goose revenue and profit” Share performance is affected by many factors within and
external to a firm. However, a principal driver of share price is profit. Put simply, if a
company is making good profits, especially those expected by the city, its share price
will rise. By contrast, disappointing profits will cause share prices to drop. A share option
simply gives the directors the option to buy shares at a set price. Once again, as the directors
benefit directly they have every incentive to make sure that by hook or by crook the company
achieves a good profit. Share price and share option remuneration is particularly popular in
countries with strong equity markets, such as the UK and USA.

3.1.1.4 Job Security

Directors and managers may also be concerned generally about their jobs. They may receive
large remuneration packages and have a good standard of living. If they report disappointing
results they may feel themselves vulnerable. Managers may fear redundancy and directors
may fear board room reshuffles. Better to avoid both scenarios by creatively managing the
results.

3.1.1.5 Personal Satisfaction

All managers are human. Therefore, like all human beings, managers crave personal recog-
nition and esteem. If the results for a particular period are poor, then managers may lose
some self-esteem. This is heightened by the fact that companies are regularly ranked by
sales or profit before taxation. They can avoid this by massaging the profits upwards.

3.1.2 Market Expectations

The city is an important driver for creative accounting. Essentially, managers deliver the
profits, while analysts help to determine the share prices. This can cause problems for
managers if the profits do not live up to the expectations of the analysts. Analysts’ forecasts
are regularly published. If companies do not meet these forecasts then it is likely that
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their share prices will suffer. This is something which most companies seek to avoid as it
sends the wrong signals to the city. There are three main incentives here: meeting analysts’
expectations, profit smoothing and the norm.

3.1.2.1 Meeting Analysts’ Expectations

There is an annual city reporting cycle. The companies report annually in a formal way
through the annual report. There is also an interim report and in some countries, such
as the USA, there are also quarterly reports. Companies may additionally make other
earnings announcements. On the basis of past results, current information and other factors,
analysts predict the expected profits of the firm. The share price then reflects these analysts’
expectations. If the firm makes the expected results then the share price will generally not
fall. If, however, for any reason the firm fails to make its anticipated profits then its share
price is likely to suffer. This is bad news for the directors, especially if their remuneration
is dependent on the company’s share price. Consequently, there are great pressures to make
analysts’ earning expectations. If there is a shortfall then directors may indulge in creative
accounting so as to close the earnings gap.

These pressures are expressed clearly in remarks by the chairman of the US SEC in 1988
(Levitt, 1988):

Increasingly, I have become concerned that the motivation to meet Wall Street earnings expec-
tations may be overriding common sense business practices. Too many corporate managers,
auditors, and analysts are participants in a game of nods and winks. In the zeal to satisfy
consensus estimates and project a smooth earnings path, wishful thinking may be winning the
day over faithful representation. As a result, I fear that we are witnessing an erosion in the
quality of earnings, and therefore, the quality of financial reporting. Managing may be giving
way to manipulation; integrity may be losing out to illusion. . . . While the problem of earnings
manipulation is not new, it has swelled in a market that is unforgiving of companies that miss
their estimates. I recently read of one major U.S. company, that failed to meet its so-called
‘numbers’ by one penny, and lost more than six percent of its stock value in one day.’

3.1.2.2 Profit Smoothing

Whereas companies may indulge in last-minute accounting adjustments to meet analysts’
expectations, profit smoothing is much more systematic and considered. It involves a long-
term strategy to keep a smooth and steady set of profits. Essentially, erratic profits may
make a company vulnerable to share price swings or in certain more extreme instances even
a hostile takeover. The market will perceive a company with erratic profits to be riskier and
less well managed than one with steady profits. The example in Figure 3.2 is illustrative of
profit smoothing.

In both cases, the two companies make the same profits over the same time period.
However, company X makes a steady set of profits. They rise on a linear trend. The market
can predict future profits and is comfortable about the future. By contrast, company Y is
much more erratic. As a result its share price may swing erratically. Ironically, at the end of
period 4, it may find itself with a weak share price and vulnerable to a possible takeover by

2 As cited in Payne and Robb (1999, p. 372).
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Two firms (X and Y) in the same industry have the following profit trends. Which is likely to

be favoured by the stock market?

Years 1 2 3 4
(£m) (£m) (£m) (£m)

X 1 2 4 8

Y 4 @) 15 3)

At first glance, X looks the better bet. Its profits steadily rise, doubling each year. However,
company Y, with irregular, fluctuating profits actually makes the same cumulative profits as
X (i.e. £15m). Overall, the stock market will probably favour X with its steady growth.
Indeed, in year 4, company X might even be able to make a successful bid for Y! Company
X’s share price at that date may well be much higher than company Y’s. It will be perceived
as less risky. There is thus every incentive for X to use creative accounting to smooth out its

profits.

Figure 3.2 Profit smoothing
Source: Adapted from Jones (2006, p. 33).

company X. As a result, the management of company Y may feel it necessary to indulge
in creative accounting to protect itself against such an eventuality.

3.1.2.3 The Norm

In a sense, managers may find it acceptable to indulge in creative accounting because it is an
accepted norm within the city. In other words, if everybody else is using creative accounting
then managers may feel that it is perfectly in order for them to do so. This argument was
expressed by Watts and Zimmerman (1986, p. 204): ‘The market expects managers to
manipulate the numbers to their own advantage reporting arbitrarily high earnings rather
than taking actions that increase earnings because they increase firm value.” Using this
argument the city automatically builds in a discount for creative accounting: if you do not
indulge in it you suffer because your results will be discounted anyway. Therefore, it makes
sense for your company to indulge in creative accounting too. Tied in to this motivation is
the belief that there is nothing wrong with presenting your results in their best light. For
instance, if you go on a date or to an interview, then you try to do your best. Looked at
in this light, creative accounting is a similar understandable human reaction. Managers are
just putting the most favourable interpretation on their results.

3.1.3 Special Circumstances

There are also a range of special circumstances in which managers may wish to use creative
accounting or sometimes fraud. Eight of these are discussed below, but they are by no means



Motivations to Indulge in Creative Accounting and Fraud 37

exhaustive: manage gearing and borrowing; new issues; mergers and acquisitions; decrease
visibility; new management team; waiting for the good times; believe current regulations
incorrect; and ‘it’s not illegal’.

3.1.3.1 Manage Gearing and Borrowing

Firms often borrow money. Lenders are often anxious about recovering that loan. They
usually have loan agreements with the borrowing firms. These may, for example, set
penalties or even automatic debt repayment if the loan covenants are breached. One such
loan covenant might be that gearing levels (i.e. the relationship of debt to shareholders’
funds) should not exceed a certain preset level. If its external debt rises, this may give a firm
a problem. If, for example, a firm’s loan agreement says that a certain loan must be repaid
automatically if gearing rises to 30 % and the accounts show 35 %, there is every incentive
for the borrowing firm to use off-balance sheet financing techniques to remove some debt
from the balance sheet so that it does not breach its loan covenants.

3.1.3.2 New Issues

New issues arise in two principal circumstances. In the first, a company is coming to the
stock market for the first time. In the second, an existing firm wishes to raise more money
from a share issue. In both cases, there is every incentive for the company to make its
results look as good as possible. In short, if the firm looks an attractive proposition then
more shareholders will subscribe for shares. The share price will then rise and, therefore,
the amount raised by the new issue will rise. Creative accounting, or indeed fraud, may
make the difference between a successful and an unsuccessful share issue/launch.

3.1.3.3 Mergers and Acquisitions

Companies often find themselves involved in merger and acquisition activity. Whether the
firm is the bidder or the target, there are incentives to indulge in creative accounting. From
the bidder’s perspective a good set of results will allow the bid to be made from a position
of strength. In particular if, as is very common, the bidder is offering its own shares as
part of the purchase price then the higher its share price, the fewer shares it has to offer.
Research showed that in the late 1980s in the UK one very acquisitive company, Hanson,
launched 16 takeover bids. Only one was launched when the share price of Hanson was
comparatively weak (Mansell, 1987). As discussed earlier, a company’s share price will
depend on its profitability and a company’s profitability can be enhanced through creative
accounting. However, in this case, there is no evidence of creative accounting although
there were certainly incentives present.

From the target’s perspective, the better the results that the company has the more the
acquirer will have to pay for it. In addition, if the target is fighting the takeover, if it
has higher profits and appears to be doing better than it actually is, this may also help
its defence efforts. This was the situation in 1969 in the UK when the General Electric
Company (GEC) took over Associated Electrical Industries (AEI). There was speculation
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that management maximised profits by using the flexibility permitted by the accounting
system. This is discussed in more detail in Chapter 7.

3.1.3.4 Decrease Regulatory Visibility

Certain companies operate in aregulatory environment or in an environment where they may
fear government interference. It may therefore be in the interests of oil companies, water
companies or banks in certain circumstances not to make excessive profits. Essentially,
they may fear government intervention to reduce profits, either through fixing selling prices
or through a windfall tax. For example, in the UK in the 1970s two industries, electricity
and gas, used income decreasing policies so as apparently to justify price rises (Mclnnes,
1990).

3.1.3.5 New Management Team

When a new management team comes in there may be every incentive to blame the
previous managers for any poor results. They may adopt what is called a ‘big bath’ policy.
This involves management making already poor results even poorer. This is done for two
reasons: it enables the incoming management to start from a low base and it also enables
future profits to be boosted. Future profits can, for example, be boosted by making immediate
provisions for expenses that will be incurred in the future. This will reduce future expenses
and thus increase future profits. Alternatively, if management reduces the current inventory
valuation then when this inventory is sold in future periods this will increase future profits.
Similarly, it is possible to manipulate the value of other assets such as accounts receivable
or fixed assets.

3.1.3.6 Waiting for the Good Times

A powerful incentive for an ailing firm to use creative accounting is when it is suffering
financially, but believes that good times are around the corner. The firm, therefore, uses
creative accounting to help it ride out the bad times. More specifically, a company may
use creative accounting, or even fraud, to maintain a stock exchange listing or even avoid
delisting. How many companies successfully do this is unknown. Hindsight only tends to
reveal those companies that adopted this strategy and which subsequently ran into even
more difficulties when the expected good times failed to arise.

Essentially, this is what happened in two well-known UK accounting scandals: City of
Glasgow Bank (1878) and the Royal Mail Steam Packet Company (1931). In the case of
the City of Glasgow Bank the directors knew they were in trouble. However, they had a
recovery strategy which was to invest in Australian property. Unfortunately, this investment
failed. As a result, the company ultimately collapsed.

With the Royal Mail Steam Packet Company there had been a severe decline in the
profitability of the shipping industry since the First World War. The chairman, Lord Kylsant,
appeared to believe that better times were around the corner and used creative accounting
in an attempt to keep the company afloat until then. The company was gradually using up
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the profits that it had accumulated in the good times. Creative accounting was a useful tool
for this. Unfortunately, the good times failed to arrive and the company ran into difficulties.

3.1.3.7 Believe Current Regulations Incorrect

A particular and rare potential incentive is where managers may wish to give a true and
fair view, but honestly believe that a strict interpretation of the current accounting rules and
regulations will prevent this. In this case, they may feel that adopting a more liberal ‘creative
accounting’ approach will enable them to do so. In other words, they are using creative
accounting to portray the ‘true’ position of the firm. However, the number of companies
which use this reasoning, and honestly believe it, is probably less than those who use it as
a convenient excuse to adopt creative accounting!

3.1.3.8 Itis not Illegal so Why Shouldn’t We Use Creative Accounting?

A final reason, if perhaps not an incentive, is that creative accounting is not illegal. Therefore,
as managers are not doing anything wrong, why shouldn’t they use creative accounting?
This is a perfectly legitimate argument, even though it is not necessarily following the
spirit of the regulations. The fact that they may believe others are also adopting creative
accounting reinforces this argument.

3.1.4 Cover-up Fraud
3.1.4.1 Misappropriation of Assets

This category was specifically identified by Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999). It
involves cases where a manager has already misappropriated assets. In order to cover this
up, the manager then manipulates the financial statements.

3.2 CONCLUSION

In a perfect world there would be no need for creative accounting or fraud. However, when
the results do not fulfil expectations then there may be several reasons why a company may
wish to adopt creative accounting. First, there are a range of personal incentives. Managers
may wish to use creative accounting to increase reported earnings so that they will receive
increased salaries, greater bonuses or more lucrative grants of shares or share options. In
other words, they may wish to maximise their own personal remuneration. In addition,
managers may feel their jobs are more secure or wish to increase their personal esteem.

Second, there are pressures from the city to use creative accounting. These pressures may
sometimes also cause managers to indulge in fraud. Managers may wish to meet analysts’
expectations, both in the short term by last-minute earnings adjustments and also in the long
term through profit smoothing. Managers may also consider that as the market will expect
and discount earnings for creative accounting, they also ought to use creative accounting.
If they do not, the argument runs, they will be placing themselves and their shareholders at
a disadvantage.
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Third, there are a range of special circumstances:

e Managers may wish to manage earnings and net assets so as not to breach loan covenants.

e Companies seeking to raise new capital by way of a share issue will wish to raise as much
money as possible. If earnings are higher it is likely that the share price will be too, thus
they can raise more money with the same number of shares or the same amount of money
by issuing fewer shares. They may, therefore, have incentives to manipulate earnings.

e Companies in takeover situations may have incentives to indulge in creative accounting.
Bidding companies may wish to increase earnings so as to make a share-based offer look
more attractive. For targets, the managers may wish to increase earnings so as to make
the company worth more in order to make it more difficult to take over.

e Companies in high-profile, regulated industries may wish to depress earnings so as to
make it less likely that governments will intervene to fix prices.

e On a change of management incoming managers, in particular, will have incentives to
make the current results look poor so that the future earnings of the company will look
better.

e In some circumstances, managers may feel that creative accounting should be used
because it better reflects a true and fair representation of the company’s position than
current regulations.

e There is nothing illegal about creative accounting. Therefore, some managers will be
happy to use creative accounting as they will be keeping to the letter, if not the spirit, of
the law.

e Finally, in a special case, managers may manipulate the financial statements so that their
misappropriation of assets will remain undetected.
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. Methods of Creative Accounting and Fraud |

Michael Jones

4.1 INTRODUCTION

There are innumerable different methods of creative accounting. These arise because of
the inherent flexibility within accounting. Each set of accounts consists of a myriad of
different items of income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equities. For each different item
there will be an accounting policy. As there are many accounting policies the opportunity
arises to adapt and alter accounting policies so as to change the reported accounting figures.
Indeed, one easy way to confuse investors is to continually change your results. As Robert
Townsend (1970, p. 89) states: ‘The easiest way to do a snow job on investors (or on
yourself) is to change one factor in accounting each month. Then you can say, “It’s not
comparable with last month or last year and we can’t really draw any conclusion from the
figures”.” The consistency concept limits but does not curtail companies’ ability to do this.
In the USA, WorldCom, which collapsed in 2002, was accused of repeatedly revising and
restating its accounts. It was a pioneer of what was called proforma accounting.

The three main financial statements in a company’s accounts are the income statement
(also known as the profit and loss account), the balance sheet (also known as the state-
ment of financial position) and the cash flow statement. In each of the three statements
there will be different objectives for the creative accountant. In the income statement
the main aim is usually to alter the profit figure. If the aim is (as is most common)
to inflate profit, then incomes will be increased and expenses decreased. If profit is to
be reduced then income needs to be decreased and expenses increased. In the balance
sheet, the usual aim will be to increase the company’s net worth. This can be done by
increasing assets and decreasing liabilities. Finally, in the cash flow statement the aim
will generally be to increase operating cash flow at the expense of other cash flows. In
a sense, creative cash flow accounting is more difficult to achieve than creative profit
creation. Cash is harder to manufacture than profit. As UBS Phillips & Drew (1991,
p. 1) state: ‘CASH IS KING. In the end, investment and accounting all come back to cash.
Whereas “manufacturing” profits is relatively easy, cash flow is the most difficult parameter
to adjust in a company’s accounts. Indeed, tracing cash movements in a company can often
lead to the identification of unusual accounting practices.’

I explore below some of the main methods by which these statements can be massaged.
However, it should be stressed that the aim of the creative accountant is to adjust the accounts
without the investors noticing. For if the stock market detects creative accounting practices
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then it will adjust the share price accordingly and the creative accountant’s efforts will have
been in vain. To indulge in creative accounting successfully, the creative accountant will
also have to either hoodwink the auditors or persuade them that the accounting practices are
acceptable. Inevitably, therefore, the creative accounting policies used by companies are
often subtle, sometimes very complex and hard to detect. The methods given in this chapter
are thus generally simplified. In practice, the actual methods used, although following
the same general principles, will be more complex. They are often by their very nature
difficult to detect and decipher. Many examples of creative accounting are given in the
individual country chapters. After looking at the various methods of creative accounting, I
will present a simple example which illustrates some of the creative accounting techniques.
I will then look at some types of fraud. In many cases, fraud can be a continuation of creative
accounting. However, it is interesting to consider separately two special aspects: the creation
of fictitious entries and the misappropriation of assets. As with creative accounting, there
are numerous different potential frauds, as will be seen in the individual country chapters.

Before looking at the actual methods the basic principles of what the creative accountant
is trying to achieve will be examined. Then I will discuss how the basic technical nature of
accounting helps the creative accounting process.

4.2 BASIC PRINCIPLES

Overall, the basic principles of creative accounting involve the three main financial state-
ments. There are, as we can see from Figure 4.1, five main strategies.

The first two strategies aim to increase the profit in the income statement. This can be
done either by increasing income or by decreasing expenses. For most companies, sales
are the biggest source of income. So focusing on increasing sales is a common creative
accounting strategy. However, there are other sorts of income, such as investment income,

1. Increase income

One way of increasing profit. Under this strategy, sales or other income is increased.

2. Decrease expenses

This is the second way of increasing profit. There are two main sub-strategies:
2A. Just decrease expenses.
2B. Decrease expenses and increase assets at the same time.

3. Increase assets

One way of increasing the net worth of the company.

4. Decrease liabilities

A second way of increasing the net worth of the company.

5. Increase cash flow

Either by increasing cash operating income or decreasing cash operating expenses.

Figure 4.1 Creative accounting strategies
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which also may be manipulated. The two main methods of reducing expenses are either by
utilising provisions or by capitalising expenses (making them assets). Strategies three and
four focus on the balance sheet. The third strategy is to boost assets, thus strengthening
and increasing the company’s net worth. The fourth strategy has the same effect; however,
here we focus on reducing the liabilities. Finally, the fifth strategy is to increase cash flow.
As it is almost impossible to increase cash per se (you either have it or you don’t), this
strategy is more about timing or presentation. There may be efforts made to accelerate the
collection of the cash, which may mean collecting less cash now rather than more cash later.
Alternatively, it will focus on increasing operating cash flow, which is the key cash flow
for analysts. This is generally by trying to classify non-operating cash inflows as operating
cash inflows and operating expenses as non-operating expenses.

4.3 NATURE OF ACCOUNTING

Most people, apart from accountants, are unaware that at the heart of accounting is an
accounting equation. This stems from the basic symmetry in accounting in which the debits
equal the credits. In effect, in accounting terminology debits equal credits. Debits are
expenses and assets and credits are incomes, liabilities and capital. This can be expressed
in two ways. The first is set out below.

DEBITS = CREDITS
Assets and Expenses = Income and Liabilities and Capital

Every accounting transaction has a debit and a credit. So if a business sells £100 worth of
goods this results in a debit and a credit. In this case, the cash which is an asset (a debit) will
increase and be matched by sales of £100 which are an income (a corresponding credit).

So how does this basic symmetry help the creative accountant? The key is that it is easy
to change the basic elements of the accounting equation. Thus, if we classify expenses
as assets the books will still balance. Alternatively, if we record liabilities as income the
books will still balance. The basic nature of accounting thus facilitates creative accounting.
Furthermore, in cases of fraud, fictitious transactions will still have their debits and credits
(albeit non-existent in this case).

4.4 METHODS OF CREATIVE ACCOUNTING

We will now discuss some of the main methods of creative accounting. The five main
strategies will be discussed in turn. The aim is to present a flavour of creative accounting.
The techniques used in practice will often be impossible to detect, even by experienced
analysts. Most of these techniques are illustrated in actual cases in the individual country
chapters later in the book.

Generally, the techniques presented here will be methods of creative accounting rather
than fraud. However, the two often overlap. In essence, any method of creative accounting,
if stretched to its absolute limit, would step outside the boundaries of the regulatory system.
Clear cases of fraudulent methods will be highlighted. In addition, if any of a company’s
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income or assets are misappropriated by a private individual, this can constitute fraud or
fictitious accounting transactions can occur. These two special cases are dealt with at the
end of the chapter.

4.4.1 Strategy 1: Increase Income

The text box below outlines five of the most common methods of increasing income.

Strategy 1: Increase income

(i) Premature sales recognition
(i) Increase interest receivable
(iii) Include non-operating profits
(iv) Treat loans as sales

(v) Swaps.

4.4.1.1 Premature Sales Recognition

This is perhaps one of the most common and pervasive forms of creative accounting.
It stems from the basic question: when is a sale a sale? At first sight this may seem a
silly question. However, the more complex business becomes, the more difficult the exact
definition of a sale becomes. There is often, for example, a lot of latitude in determining
the exact timing of a sale. Ian Griffiths (1995, p. 16) sums this up: ‘Once it is accepted that
actual cash flows do not present a true and fair view of the company’s performance, then
the door marked creativity is pushed wide open. As long as a company can justify with
a degree of reasonableness that its income recognition policy is soundly based then it has
carte blanche to do pretty much what it likes.’

Years ago I was involved in auditing a UK company which sold combine harvesters
which are used to bring in the harvest in the UK in August. The company had a year end
of 30 June. The farmers wanted to be invoiced in March so that they could get tax relief
on the purchase (their tax year ended 5 April). The company was quite happy to hold the
stock until August and wait for payment until August. It could, however, take the sale in
March and it would form part of that year’s sales. In this particular case, this accounting
policy benefited all parties.

In the USA, Mulford and Comiskey (2002) document many incidences of companies
taking sales early. For example, Midisoft Corp., in 1994, claimed to recognise revenue
when the products were shipped. However, it recognised sales which were not shipped
until the end of its financial year and for products which the company had no reasonable
expectation would be paid (Mulford and Comiskey, 2002, p. 10). In addition, they cite
many companies which were subject to the US Securities and Exchange Commission’s
accounting and auditing enforcement releases. Thus, Advanced Medical Products, Inc.
improperly recognised revenues upon shipments to field representatives (improperly as
they were still controlled by the company), improperly held open its accounting periods
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and continued booking sales, recognised sales without shipping the goods and recognised
full sale on partial shipments (Mulford and Comiskey, 2002, p. 67).

In a recent UK case involving Interserve, a building services maintenance company, a
£25 million hole in the accounts was found by the company’s new head of the industrial
division, Bruce Melizan. Sources close to the company said that employees apparently
were over-invoicing. Invoices were entered into the accounts, inflating sales; they were then
cancelled by raising credit notes. New invoices were then reissued, rolling the situation
forward (Sukhraj, 2006, p. 6). Four executives lost their jobs (Richardson, 2007).

In the UK, the Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP), charged with policing UK
company accounts, took issue with the 2004 accounts of Inveresk, a paper manufacturer
(Release FRRP PN 93, 1 June 2006). Inveresk entered into a contract to sell Borelands
reservoir in Inverkeitling. However, the contract was conditional on detailed planning
consent. Only outline planning consent was granted by the time the land was sold in March
2005 to a third party. Inveresk, contrary to the advice of auditors KPMG, booked the sale in
its 2004 accounts. The FRRP argued that the sale should not be taken in 2004. The directors
accepted the panel’s findings. As a result, a reported profit of £184 000, when corrected,
became a loss of £417 000 (Grant, 2006, p. 7).

When I audited a manufacturing company in the 1970s in the UK, I found that the
company was despatching goods in the first week in January, but was recording them as
December sales. As a consequence, this affected both the profit and sales booked. The
company agreed to change its policy when challenged.

4.4.1.2 Increase Interest Receivable

One of a company’s sources of revenue is interest from investments such as stocks and
shares or bank and building society accounts. This is usually fairly immutable. However,
sometimes it can be massaged. In Polly Peck, for example, a high-flying UK company that
collapsed in 1989, there is an example of currency mismatching which led to very high
figures for income receivable (see UBS Phillips & Drew, 1991, p. 18). Essentially, Polly
Peck borrowed in Swiss francs. Swiss francs are a very strong currency. Strong currencies
have typically low rates of interest. Polly Peck then invested this money in a bank in Turkey.
The Turkish dinar is a weak currency. However, the compensation was that it paid a high
rate of interest. As a result, Polly Peck’s income statement looked good. It received £68.1
million from its investment in a Turkish bank and paid out only £55.6 million to the Swiss
bank. Profit was, therefore, boosted by £12.5 million. However, all was not what it seemed
for the Turkish dinar depreciated against the Swiss franc. As a result, hidden away in the
balance sheet was a capital loss of £44.7 million. This loss was not spotted by the investment
analysts. In addition, to add insult to injury, the money was locked into Turkey and could
not be transferred to the UK.

4.4.1.3 Include Non-operating Profits

Generally, analysts are more interested in trading profits rather than one-off non-trading
items. However, companies often try to include in their normal profits one-off sales or
profits. In Chapter 19, we will see that IBM’s accounting was challenged by the US
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Securities Exchange Commission for netting off a one-off disposal of assets in 1999 against
operating costs. Other companies may try to include in operating income items such as
one-off profits from selling assets. Indeed, it used to be common practice for companies
to write down fixed assets to below their book value so that when they were sold a profit
could be booked.

4.4.1.4 Treat Loans as Sales

Loans and sales are obviously very different things. One is income, the other essentially
a liability. However, as they are both credits in the accounts there is room for the creative
accountant to treat loans as income in some cases. For example, a UK manufacturing
company was accused of treating loans from the government as sales. In addition, it was
alleged that the company had loaned money to customers so that they could purchase its
products. At Enron, the collapsed US energy company, this technique was taken to a new
level and alleged to be fraudulent. Loans from merchant bankers were treated as up-front
payments for energy contracts.

4.4.1.5 Swaps

In essence, a swap is where one company swaps a product with another. Swaps are in
danger of stepping outside the regulatory framework. In essence, a swap is where two
companies exchange products and then claim them as sales. It would be the same as two
school children collecting cards. One might swap some cards with the other. However,
both end up with the same number of cards. In business, however, some creative managers
try to claim that a swap is actually a sale. In the communications industry such swaps of
capacity are common. Enron and Qwest made a $500 million broadband swap in 2001.
Enron treated these swaps as sales (Fusaro and Miller, 2002).

4.4.2 Strategy 2: Decrease Expenses

The other major strategy to increase profit is to decrease expenses. There are probably even
more ways to do this than to increase sales. These are outlined in the text box and then
discussed below.

Strategy 2: Decrease expenses

(i) Use provision accounting
(i) Reduce tax
(iii) Big bath or excessive one-year write-offs
(iv) Decrease expenses and increase assets
(v) Increase closing inventory
(vi) Capitalise expenses
(vii) Lengthen depreciation lives
(viii) Be generous with bad debts.
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4.4.2.1 Use Provision Accounting

In accounting, it is necessary to make numerous estimates. Provision accounting involves
setting up provisions for estimated expenses. For example, one company may take over
another. It may have restructuring and reorganization costs. It will make a provision for
these in the year of acquisition; this will increase expenses in this year. However, the
company will argue that this is a one-off cost which should be excluded from the all-
important ongoing profit from normal operations. It will then find that it has over-estimated
these expenses and feed them back into the income statement. The same basic principle of
establishing over-generous provisions, which are then excluded from operating profit and
later released back into profits, can be used in a variety of situations.

UBS Phillips & Drew (1991) report the case of the takeover of Crowther by Coloroll in
1988 in the UK. Originally, the purchase price was £215 million and net assets acquired
were £70 million. Goodwill was thus £145 million. However, Coloroll then wrote off a
further £75 million through incidental costs, stock and debtor write-offs, redundancy and
relocation costs and other items. ‘Clearly if any of the written down stock is subsequently
sold then the reported profit is enhanced. Similarly, if any written down debtors are realised
in full then this also feeds through to the P&L’ (UBS Phillips & Drew, 1991, p. 4). By
adopting this strategy, Coloroll used the permissible flexibility in the contemporary rules
for provision accounting at the time as a way of boosting future profit.

4.4.2.2 Reduce Taxation

Corporate taxation is a major corporate expense. Companies will try to reduce taxation.
They will often employ teams of corporate tax accountants to reduce their tax bills. These
tax avoidance schemes are generally beyond the scope of this book. In fact, they are worthy
of a book by themselves. However, by adopting such schemes many profitable UK and
US companies pay hardly any tax. In a survey, for example, UBS Phillips & Drew (1991)
identified 24 out of 185 major UK companies which had a tax rate of less than 25 %. It is
also important to point out that such tax avoidance, which equates to creative accounting,
is quite legal. By contrast, tax evasion, which equates to fraud, is illegal. As with creative
accounting schemes, there is a vast industry which advises companies on potential tax
avoidance schemes.

4.4.2.3 Big Bath

The big bath is a managerial strategy to get rid of all the bad news in one go. The reason
that it falls into the strategy of reducing expenses is that it serves to write off in one year
expenses that would be incurred in future years. Two common areas where the big bath
method is used are in acquisition accounting and also when a new management takes over
a company. In acquisition accounting it is linked with provision accounting. The basic idea
is that you write off as many costs as possible now so that future performance looks better.
Thus, you write down trade receivables so that you can collect more next year.

The example of Sears is given by Mulford and Comiskey (2002, p. 33). In 1992, Sears
restructured its balance sheet by $2.65 billion in order to discontinue its domestic catalogue
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operations and other unprofitable operations. In 1992 the company reported a pre-tax loss
of $4.3 billion. By writing off these restructuring costs as permitted by US GAAP, Sears
had increased an already existing loss. However, as a result its earnings would be higher in
future years as there would be fewer expenses in these years.

In the case of a new management team coming in, the incentives are similar. If the new
management team has been brought in to turn around a failing company they may well take
advantage of the flexibility of the accounting rules and regulations to write off as many
expenses as possible. This has a triple benefit to the new management team. First, it makes
the performance of their predecessors look worse. There is thus added justification for their
replacement. Second, the new management team start off from a low base. Therefore, any
improvements which they make are exaggerated. And, third, by accelerating the writing off
of future costs they are likely to make the future performance of the company look better.

4.4.2.4 Increase Closing Inventory

Inventory is a particular favourite for the creative accountant. Closing inventory appears
both on the balance sheet and also in the income statement, where it reduces the cost of
sales. If, therefore, inventory increases so will profit. The attractive thing about inventory
is that generally there is an annual stock-take in which the inventory is counted and valued.
This makes it a particularly easy asset to manipulate, as Figure 4.2 shows.

There are two main ways in which inventory can be massaged. The first is by manipulating
the quantity of the inventory. The second is by valuing it. The quantity can be manipulated
by doing a particularly rigorous stock-take in years when profit needs to be increased and
then a slack stock-take if the inventory is too high.

If there is only one asset, inventory, worth say £ 20 million, then if equity is £ 10 million and
this year’s profit is £ 10 million, we have balance sheet A:

Balance sheet A

£m £m
Equity 10 Inventory 20
Profit 10 .
20 20

The conTpany could:

(1) Adopt a more generous inventory valuation policy, perhaps by lowering the provisions for
obsolete inventory (increases inventory by £ 1.0 million).

(2) Do a particularly rigorous stock-take (increases inventory by £ 0.5 million undiscovered
inventory). The balance sheet now looks like balance sheet B:

Balance sheet B

£m £m
Equity 10.0 Inventory 21.5
Profit 11.5

215 215

Hey presto! We have increased our profits by £ 1.5 million.

Figure 4.2 Manipulating inventory
Source: Adapted from Jones (2006, p. 336).
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With valuation there are several possibilities. There are provisions for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory. However, these are subject to managerial subjectivity and so can be
altered. The actual method of inventory valuation can also be changed. There are three
main methods: AVCO (average cost method), FIFO (first-in-first-out) and LIFO (last-in-
first-out). In some countries, such as the USA, all three methods are permitted. However,
all three will give different levels of inventory and different profit levels, as Figure 4.3 on
the next page shows.

Finally, production overheads are allowed to be included in inventory. They will thus
boost inventory and thus profits. However, there is a great deal of subjectivity for what
actually is a production overhead. As a result, the inventory figure can be massaged.

In practice, therefore, inventory is often inflated to serve managerial ends. I once had a
neighbour who worked as a management accountant. The neighbour was looking partic-
ularly glum one Friday night. I asked what was wrong. The neighbour said that his head
office financial controller had been on the phone. The current profit of the subsidiary was
too low, he said. The management had been instructed to deliver a £0.5 million profit by
head office and they were short of about £50 000. The neighbour was glum because he
would have to spend all weekend diligently going through the inventory records in great
detail to find the extra £50 000.

4.4.2.5 Capitalise Expenses

The capitalisation of costs utilises the basic principle that a debit balance in the accounts
can either be an expense or an asset. By reclassifying expenses the creative accountant not
only increases profit, but also increases assets. It is a win/win situation. The fixed assets
(i.e. property, plant and equipment) will generally be depreciated. However, this means
that the cost is spread over many years. There are many examples of capitalised costs, for
example interest payable, software development costs, and research and development. Take
interest payable as an example. When companies borrow money to construct fixed assets
then they often argue that the cost of this interest is really part of the fixed assets and should,
therefore, be capitalised. A study by UBS Phillips & Drew in 1991 in the UK showed that
some UK companies would have actually made a loss not a profit if they had expensed
rather than capitalised their interest. Moreover, they state that virtually every UK listed
property company used capitalised interest to defer the effect on the income statement.
When property prices are rising this is not a problem; however, when they fall this can
cause problems.

The most high-profile case of companies improperly capitalising their expenses was in
the USA. WorldCom is a US telecommunications firm. In 2001, it capitalised enormous
amounts of costs. Analysts suspect these included wages and salaries of workers who
maintained the telecom systems. As Matt Krantz (2002) saw it, “WorldCom used the
gimmick to a level never before seen. The company showed a $1.4 billion profit in 2001,
rather than a loss, by using what’s essentially the oldest trick in the book. Put simply what
WorldCom did was treat revenue expenses such as painting a door as capital expenses such
as replacing the door.’

The way in which WorldCom might have improperly capitalised $3.9 billion expenses is
that it first paid costs such as wages and salaries to workers for performing maintenance on
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Inventoryco purchases its inventory on the first day of the month. Its purchases and sales are as

follows:
Kilos Cost per kilo Total cost
January 1 Purchases 10 000 £1.00 £10000
February 1 ~ Purchases 15 000 £1.50 £22 500
March 1 Purchases 20000 £2.00 £40 000
45000 £72 500
March 30 Sales (35 000)

March 30 Closing
inventory 10 000
‘What is the closing inventory valuation using FIFO, LIFO and AVCO?
(i) FIFO
The first inventory purchased is the first sold.
10 000 kilos January
15 000 kilos February

10 000 kilos March

|9%]

5000

The 10 000 kilos from March are left at £ 2.00 per kilo = £ 20 000.
(ii) LIFO

The last inventory purchased is assumed to be the first sold.

20 000 kilos from March

15 000 kilos from February

35000

The 10 000 kilos from January are left at £ 1 per kilo = £ 10 000.

Figure 4.3 Different stock valuations methods give different profits
Source: Adapted from Jones (2006, pp. 413-414).
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(iii) AVCO

The inventory is pooled and the average cost of purchase is taken. We purchased 45 000 kilos for
£ 72500 (i.e. £ 1.61 per kilo).

Therefore, 10 000 kilos x average cost of £ 1.61 =£ 16 110.

Our inventory valuations vary.
£

FIFO 20 000
LIFO 10000
AVCO 16110
Whichever valuation method is used, both cost of sales and profit are affected. Essentially, the

cost of purchases will be split between inventory and cost of sales.

Total cost Cost of sales Inventory
£ £ £
FIFO 72500 52500 (N1) 20000
LIFO 72500 62 500 (N2) 10 000
AVCO 72500 56 390 (N3) 16 110
£
(N1) FIFO represents: January 10 000 kilos at £ 1.00 10 000
February 15 000 kilos at £ 1.50 22 500
March 10 000 kilos at £ 2.00 20 000
52 500
£
(N2) LIFO represents: February 15 000 kilos at £ 1.50 22 500
March 20 000 kilos at £ 2.00 40 000
62 500
£
(N3) AVCO represents: 35000 kilos at £ 1.611 56 390

Profit is affected because if cost of sales is less, inventory, and thus profit, is higher and vice
versa. In this case, using FIFO will show the greatest profit as its cost of sales is lowest and

inventory highest. LIFO will show the lowest profit. AVCO is in the middle!

Figure 4.3 (Continued)



54 Creative Accounting, Fraud and International Accounting Scandals

telecom systems. These were excluded from income and capitalized. Then over time they
were depreciated.

Jim Hopkins (2002) suggests that WorldCom’s actions in capitalising the costs of its
leading network capacity, which it helped to resell to its customers, can be seen to be the
same as the following:

. Lease a house.

. Plan to rent out the house because your rent will be more than the lease.

. Pay the lease payments to the owner, worsening your financial position.

. Fail to find anybody to rent.

. Treat the lease payments as an asset because it will help you one day find somebody to
rent.

6. Go to the bank to get a loan for a car and present the lease payments as assets.

DN AW~

However, WorldCom is only one of many companies to capitalise expenses. In the USA,
America Online paid a $3.5 million fine to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
to settle charges that it had capitalised the costs of mailing out thousands of diskettes
(Hopkins, 2002). America Online had not acted illegally, but the SEC disagreed with its
accounting treatment.

Meanwhile, in the UK in 2001, the FRRP forced Finelot plc to write off costs it had
previously capitalised. The company had capitalised £966 000 of costs paid to a third party
to carry out pre-production work for a new lifestyle magazine. The FRRP ruled that these
costs did not include a substantial element of scientific or technical knowledge and should
therefore be written off as expenses not capitalised. The directors accepted the FRRP’s
findings and adjusted their accounts (Financial Reporting Review Panel, July 2003, PN75).

4.4.2.6 Lengthen Depreciation Lives

Depreciation is a non cash expense; it involves allocating the cost of assets over a period
of time. It is an expense and is recorded in the income statement. Depreciation is subject
to many assumptions, such as the life of the asset and the end value of the asset. Assets
can also be revalued. Finally, there are many depreciation methods, such as straight-line
depreciation or reducing balance depreciation. As a result, by valuing assets differently,
changing the life of the assets or the depreciation method, the actual depreciation charge
can change.

Perhaps the simplest way of changing the depreciation level is by changing the life of
the assets. In essence, lengthening an asset’s life will reduce the level of depreciation.
If management believes that the asset will last longer, then lengthening the asset life is
perfectly legitimate. However, if it is done because management wants to reduce profit,
then that is creative accounting. A simple example of the effect that changing an asset’s life
can have is given in Figure 4.4.

Generally, one might expect that with the pace of modern technology the length of asset
lives would, in general, decrease. However, this is not reflected in company accounts. UBS
Phillips & Drew comment: ‘most changes in depreciation policy tend to be a lengthening of
the expected lives rather than a shortening. Indeed it is difficult to identify any UK company
which has recently reduced the depreciation life of any of its assets which has been of
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A business makes a profit of £ 20 000. It has £ 200 000 worth of fixed assets (i.e. property, plant and
equipment).

Currently it depreciates them straight line over 10 years. However, the company is thinking of

changing its depreciation policy to 20 years straight line. Will this affect profit?

Original policy New policy
£ £
Profit before depreciation 20 000 20 000
Depreciation (20 000) (10 000)
Profit after depreciation — 10 000

The answer is yes. By changing the depreciation policy, profit has increased by £10 000. In

fact, the company looks much healthier.

Figure 4.4 Depreciation
Source: Adapted from Jones (2006, p. 337).

significance in terms of depressing reported profits. This is despite a general perception
that many mechanical assets’ true life expectations are shortening” (UBS Phillips & Drew,
1991, p. 11).

Another way of reducing depreciation is by writing down the value of fixed assets. If the
fixed asset’s value is less then depreciation will be too. UBS Philips & Drew (1991, p. 5)
cited the example of Tiphook which used the flexibility in UK accounting to its maximum
effect in the late 1980s. Tiphook, a UK company, acquired a sea container fleet of dry
containers. It paid £350m for them. However, it treated them as if it had always owned
them and thus wrote them down to £211m. As a result it saved annual depreciation of
£15m. It also set up a refurbishment provision of £12m, which saved annual charges for
repairs to the income statement. Finally, the written-down asset costs meant that any profits
on disposal would be more.

4.4.2.7 Be Generous with Bad Debts

Most businesses are based on credit. Sales result in trade receivables (debtors). Some of
those trade receivables may not pay. Companies, therefore, make provision for those bad
and doubtful debts. However, these provisions are based upon judgement. Therefore, in
times when the aim is to increase profit, one can assume that there will be a very low level
of non-payment forecast by management.

An extraordinary instance of being over-generous with bad debts was H.G. Palmer Ltd.
This Australian company failed to write off its trade receivables systematically year after
year until by 1965 its outstanding trade receivables balance at £22 million outstripped its
sales of £15 million. As a result it was forced to write off trade receivables finally in 1965,
causing a loss of £4 million.

! For more on this see Chapter 9. Also Clarke, Dean and Oliver (2003, chapter 5).
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4.4.3 Strategy 3: Increase Assets

The first method of strengthening a balance sheet is to increase the assets. Many of the
techniques in strategy 2 also indirectly had this effect. However, under this strategy, as the
text box below shows, we cover those techniques which are focused mainly on improving
the asset base rather than on increasing profit.

Strategy 3: Increase assets

(i) Enhance goodwill

(i) Enhance brands and other intangibles
(iii) Revalue fixed assets
(iv) Mark-to-market.

4.4.3.1 Enhance Goodwill

Goodwill is an intangible asset. In other words, you cannot see it or touch it like a tangible
fixed asset such as a building or a motor car. Goodwill arises when one company takes over
another. It represents the purchase price paid less the fair value of the net assets acquired.
The exact rules for recording goodwill vary from country to country. Under the IASB rules
and in the USA, goodwill is capitalised and then left on the balance sheet unless its value is
impaired. If the value of goodwill can be maximised that will increase the value of the assets
on the balance sheet. It also has the advantage that fair value on acquisition will be reduced.
If the assets such as inventory are written down on acquisition then this will increase profits
later on when they are sold. Companies, therefore, have incentives to maximize goodwill
on acquisition and then subsequently argue against its impairment.

Under some other regulatory regimes, such as non-listed companies in the UK, goodwill
can be amortised (i.e. written off over time). As a result, profit can be manipulated by
increasing or decreasing the write-off period in the same sort of way that you can with
depreciation.

4.4.3.2 Enhance Brands and Other Intangibles

Brand valuation is an extremely contentious issue within accounting. Brands such as ‘Coca
Cola’ and ‘Guinness’ are extremely valuable. However, they are not typically recorded in the
accounts under conventional GAAP. Some accountants, however, believe that by including
the value of brands in the accounts this better reflects the true worth of a company. But other
accountants believe that brand valuation is very subjective and that the true reason for their
inclusion in the accounts is just to boost asset values in the balance sheet. As accounting
goes, brand accounting is a relatively new idea. From the mid-1980s, UK companies such
as Grand Metropolitan and Cadburys began to include acquired brands in their balance
sheet. These brands, once established in the balance sheet, were not amortised. In 1990,
for example, Grand Metropolitan had brands in the balance sheet of £2317 million. This
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compared with shareholders’ funds of £3427 million and net borrowings of £2888 million
(UBS Philips & Drew, 1991, p. 14). In the UK, only acquired brands can be included in the
balance sheet. In other countries, the regulatory regimes differ and in many countries you
are not allowed to include brands at all.

The problem with including brands is that there is no clear and self-evident way of valuing
them. They are, therefore, very subjective in nature. As a result, they can be massaged and
manipulated very easily if necessary. As companies become more complex, the proportion
of their assets which are intangible grows. Traditionally, intangibles have not been included
in balance sheets because they are very difficult to value. However, increasing numbers of
different intangibles are now listed in company balance sheets (such as corporate names,
patents and trademarks, personnel skills, computer software, know-how and mastheads).
Given the difficulty in valuing them, there is once more scope for creativity.

As we shall see in Chapter 13, an example of the subjectivity of intangible assets comes
from Parmalat. In Italy, football clubs were allowed to capitalise their players’ transfer costs.
Parmalat owned Parma AC, a football club. Its policy was to value its intangible assets,
such as footballers. The value of Parma AC’s footballers in 2002 was €279.2 million. This
was more than for two much more famous European football clubs: Manchester United
(€79.1 million) and Juventus, another rich Italian club (€116 million) at about the same
time (Langendijk, 2004).

4.4.3.3 Revalue Tangible Fixed Assets

In some countries such as the UK, it is permitted to depart from the strict historical
convention (in which tangible fixed assets are carried at cost). In the UK, for example, non-
listed companies were traditionally permitted, if they wished, to periodically revalue their
land and property. These revaluations will generally increase the value of corporate property
portfolios and thus of balance sheet assets. There is, of course, an element of subjectivity
in such revaluations which opens the door for creative accounting. As Rutherford (1999)
demonstrated, companies very much prefer the ability to revalue their properties. In addition,
there was much lobbying in the UK in 1978 against the mandatory depreciation of property.
Rutherford cites the chairman of a motor and engineering group: ‘We intend to revalue our
properties every five years ... I am more attracted to a professional valuer’s opinion than
that of a committee of accountants. What do accountants know about valuations? . .. Over
recent years any properties sold have been sold at a handsome profit, even against the
valuation” (Accountancy Age, 1979, p. 2). This policy, which was in accord with UK
regulations, had certain advantages to companies. It increased asset prices and thus the
balance sheet through revaluation and increased profits by not depreciating the assets.

Thomas (2002, p. 43) commented on Enron: ‘For a company such as Enron, under
continuous pressure to beat earnings estimates, it is possible that valuation estimates might
have considerably overstated earnings. Furthermore, unrealized trading gains (from the
revaluation of fixed assets) accounted for slightly more than half of the company’s $1.41
billion reported pre-tax profit for 2000 and about one-third of its reported pre-tax profit for
1999.
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4.4.3.4 Mark-to-market

The problem of how to value assets is a difficult one. This is particularly tricky with
complex and active markets. Enron used mark-to-market accounting to price many complex
contracts. Under US rules, then prevailing, companies with outstanding energy-related or
derivative contracts had to adjust them to market value in that accounting period, taking
immediately unrealized gains and losses.

4.4.4 Strategy 4: Decrease Liabilities

The second method of increasing balance sheet values is to reduce liabilities. The two
main methods of doing this, as the text box shows, involve off-balance sheet financing and
reclassifying debt as equity.

Strategy 4: Decrease liabilities

(i) Off-balance sheet financing
(i1) Reclassifying debt as equity.

4.4.4.1 Off-balance Sheet Financing

Off-balance sheet financing is one of the most complex and complicated forms of creative
accounting. It is difficult to do justice to this topic in a few pages. Often companies
are following schemes which have been devised by merchant banks. Regulators are also
constantly bringing in new regulations aimed at stopping the worst abuses. So in this section
I will just look at some of the major principles that underpin off-balance sheet financing
schemes.

The basic objective of off-balance sheet financing is the wish to remove liabilities from
the balance sheet. The motives behind this will vary. In some cases, it may be because
the company is in danger of breaching its loan covenants by having too much debt on its
balance sheet. In other cases, it may just be to make the balance sheet look stronger. If
we look at this a little differently, many companies borrow money to purchase assets and
to finance their general operations. They want to record their assets but not the liabilities.
Merchant banks will often devise very complicated schemes. The essence of these schemes
is that the company gets access to the use of assets but the associated loan with which the
asset was purchased is not recognised on the balance sheet.

Enron had many unconsolidated subsidiaries often with racy names from the Star Wars
films, like Raptor and Chewco. Under the prevailing regulations in the USA at the time,
these subsidiaries did not have to be consolidated if 3 % of the equity was owned by
outsiders and if they were independently controlled. In some of Enron’s subsidiaries this
was the case. However, in others Enron loaned the money to purchase the equity and Enron
employees controlled these subsidiaries. The role of these subsidiaries was secretly to fund
Enron. They would thus raise money from merchant banks and pass the money on to fund
Enron’s operations. The subsidiary would thus be a shell which contained unconsolidated
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liabilities that should properly have been recorded on Enron’s group balance sheet. In many
cases, it seems that Enron was acting outside the US GAAP. In other subsidiaries, assets
were transferred that were losing value, such as overseas energy facilities or broadband.
These losses were kept out of Enron’s books. To compensate the investors in the Special
Purpose Entities (SPEs), Enron issued shares. As the value of the assets fell, Enron was
forced to issue more and more shares (Thomas, 2002). Andrew Fastow, Chief Financial
Officer, boasted to CFO magazine: ‘we accessed £1.5 billion in capital but expanded the
Enron balance sheet by only $65 million. Enron effectively “hid virtually all the debt”’
(Fusaro and Miller, 2002).

In the UK, in 1988 LEP, a UK listed company, provides another example of an off-balance
sheet vehicle. LEP sold a development property, St Paul’s Vista, to an associated company.
LEP had an effective interest of 90 % in this company, but quite legitimately, under UK
companies’ legislation at the time, the company was treated as a net investment and was
not consolidated. St Paul’s Vista had a net book value of £111.3 million and LEP received
£120 million, thus realising an £8.7 million profit. UBS Phillips & Drew (1991, p. 9) point
out that by treating what was really an inter-group transfer as a sale to a third party, LEP’s
profit more than doubled.

As well as unconsolidated borrowings a problem arises when one company guarantees
another’s debts. This is known as associate debt guarantees. Often this can be picked
up by studying a company’s contingent liabilities. Essentially, a contingent liability is
a liability which may or may not occur; in other words, it is contingent upon a set of
circumstances occurring. The case of British and Commonwealth in 1989 is informative.
In 1988, British and Commonwealth paid £416 million for Atlantic Computers. British and
Commonwealth guaranteed the debts of Atlantic Computers. Atlantic Computers leased
equipment. Unfortunately, Atlantic Computers had adopted a flawed business strategy. As
UBS Phillips & Drew (1991, p. 13) point out, it allowed customers two leasing options: the
flex and the walk. The flex allowed the customer to upgrade the computer equipment after
two or three years and the walk to terminate the lease at once. The flex resulted in Atlantic
Computers having to find a home for the old equipment and supplying new equipment.
To keep the customers happy it had to keep the initial lease payments low. Customers,
therefore, had the incentive to keep flexing and deferring liabilities. For the walk, Atlantic
Computers had to keep paying the lease payments or find another customer. Both these
options led to increasing contingent liabilities. When Atlantic Computers collapsed, British
and Commonwealth ended up as guarantor and could not meet its commitments. However,
all this was not obvious from the notes to the accounts.

Contingent liabilities exist for many items. Some of the most common are health-related
and environmental. So, for example, some of the tobacco companies carry large contingent
liabilities against the cost of smoking-related law suits. Or there are environmental liabilities
on the ‘polluter pays’ principle. However, these contingent liabilities are generally buried
in the accounts and are often obtusely worded.

4.4.4.2 Reclassifying Debt as Equity

This is another very complicated accounting topic. It is also another area where regulators
have been extremely active. Essentially, equity represents owners’ capital. It is the equivalent
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of net assets on a company’s balance sheet. Debt capital, by contrast, is outside capital. It is
generally the result of corporate borrowing. The relationship between the two is known as
gearing. Thus, a highly geared company will have a high proportion of debt to equity. High
gearing also generally means that a company will have to make substantial annual interest
payments. Companies with high gearing ratios are inherently more risky than companies
with low gearing ratios. Companies with high gearing may also be worried about breaching
their loan covenants.

There are thus incentives for companies to reclassify debt as equity. This is where
complicated financing schemes may come in, often peddled by merchant banks. An area
which the merchant banks may exploit is that of convertible loan stock bonds. Convertible
loan stock bonds are loans that can be converted into equity at a future time. The trick will be
to try to dress up what are really loans as equity. An example of this is the convertible with
the put option. A put option obliges a company to redeem the loan stock at a premium to the
issue price after a period of, say, five years. However, if the share price rises above this, then
the investor would be likely to convert. Because of this the interest level on the loan could
be set at a low rate. The technical charge to the income statement is, therefore, low. The
necessity for companies to encourage their investors to exercise the conversion option can
be intense. For example, as we will see in Chapter 14, two Japanese companies, Sawako and
Yaohan Japan, indulged in many dubious practices to inflate their profits with the probable
intention of encouraging their shareholders to convert their bonds into ordinary shares.

In the UK, Shah (1996) cites the example of the premium put convertible bond used
first in 1987. This had low interest rates, but a high conversion premium. At the time the
bond was issued it was not necessary under current accounting regulations to account for
the supplemental interest this caused. Companies were permitted, and preferred, to use
accounting practices which led them to reduce interest payments. Burton’s, for example,
issued £110m of premium put convertibles with 4.75 % p.a. interest rate. There was an
effective interest rate of 9.98 %. Burton’s saved £5.75m per year. This financial instrument
became increasingly popular. However, Shah found that the supplemental interest was
not expensed by any of the companies using this bond. “This evidence suggests that the
accounting advantages (in terms of higher reported earnings) were an important motive
underlying the design and popularity of the instrument’ (Shah, 1996, p. 6).

Parmalat, the Italian company, provides an interesting example of turning debt into
equity (Langendijk, 2004). Parmalat Participacoes do Brazil Ltd issued a convertible bond
amounting to €500 million. The buyer made an irrevocable agreement to convert the debt to
shares in 2008. It was, therefore, correctly treated as equity. However, the investor was not
identified. It was suspected to be another subsidiary of Parmalat, Parmalat Finance Corp.

4.4.5 Strategy 5: Increase Operating Cash Flow

The cash flow of a business is much harder to massage than its profit. This is because
generally, cash is subject to much less estimation than profit. However, sometimes, in
unusual circumstances, companies will be able to accelerate cash flow from a later period
to an earlier period. There are two ways of presenting the cash flow statement: the direct
method and the indirect method. The direct method records actual cash inflows and outflows.
The indirect method is harder to follow for the uninitiated but tends not to focus so much
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on the cash flows. It divides the flows by function, such as operating cash flows, investing
cash flows or financing cash flows. In particular, it focuses on operating cash flows which
are the main concern of the analysts. Most companies present the cash flow statement using
the indirect method. This may be because it gives them more flexibility. It is prepared from
the existing income statement and the last two years’ balance sheets.

The focus is generally on operating cash flow. As the text box shows, there are two main
methods which both focus on massaging operating cash flows. International accounting
standards use three headings in the cash flow statement: cash flow from operating activities,
cash flow from investing activities and cash flow from financing activities. Cash flow from
operating activities represents cash from trading. This is the cash flow which most concerns
analysts and which companies wish to maximise. Cash flow from investing activities
includes purchases of fixed assets and interest received. Finally, cash flow from financing
activities includes loans and dividends paid.

Strategy 5: Increase operating cash flows

(i) Maximise operating cash inflows
(i) Minimise operating cash outflows.

4.4.5.1 Maximise Operating Cash Inflows

Strictly, operating cash inflow should include only inflows from trading and items of a
continuing nature. However, companies may try to include under this heading one-off
items such as from the sale of assets. In Enron’s case, bank loans, as we will see in Chapter
19, were treated as operating cash flow. These are items which should really be recorded
elsewhere. In addition, companies will try to make the definition of what is an operating
cash inflow as wide as possible and, at the same time, narrow the definition of investing
and financing cash flows. Essentially, companies are trying to classify as many as possible
of their positive cash flows as operating cash flows.

4.4.5.2 Minimise Operating Cash Outflows

Here the same principles operate as in the last section, but in reverse. Companies may try
to include any one-off operating losses or expenses under the financing or investing cash
flows not operating cash flows. They will attempt to narrow the definition of operating cash
outflows but to widen the definition of financing and investing cash outflows. Basically, com-
panies are trying to classify as few as possible of their cash outflows as operating cash flows.

4.5 SIMPLE NUMERICAL EXAMPLE

A simple example is given below in Table 4.1 to illustrate some of the points made in this
chapter. It should, however, be stressed that, in practice, there would be many more subtle
adjustments which together would massage the profit in the desired direction. In effect,
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Table 4.1a Example of creative accounting

Creato plc
Income statement for year ended 31 December 2009

Notes £m £m
Sales 1 100
Less cost of sales
Opening inventory 10
Add purchases 40

50

Less closing inventory 2 (15) 35
Gross profit o 65
Less expenses
Depreciation 3 12
Interest payable 4 15
Other expenses 43 70
Loss for year o)
Notes

1. Creato has a prudent income recognition policy, a less conservative one would create an additional £10m sales by premature
sales recognition.

2. Closing inventory could be valued, less prudently, at £18m by taking a generous inventory valuation policy and by carrying
out a particularly comprehensive stock-check.

3. Depreciation is charged over five years. This takes a pessimistic view of the expected lives of the assets; a more optimistic
view would be of a 10-year life.

4. £10m of the interest payable is interest on borrowings used to finance a new factory.

Source: Jones (2006, p. 340).

where there is a range of assumptions and estimates management is adopting those which
will increase profit.

If we indulge in a spot of creative accounting (Table 4.1b) we can transform Creato plc’s
income statement.

Hey presto! We have transformed a loss of £5m into a profit of £23m.

4.6 FRAUD

In many cases, the boundary between creative accounting and fraud is less than clear. For
instance, at Enron the first SPEs that were created were perfectly legitimate. However,
gradually more and more questionable SPEs were used. The Association of Certified Fraud
Examiners (1996) divided fraud into asset misappropriation, fraudulent statements, and
bribery and corruption. The most pertinent for this book are the first two categories. In
particular, many accounting scandals have at their heart fraudulent statements caused by
fictitious transactions. For the major scandals these fictitious transactions are systematic
in nature. In many cases, the same techniques were used for financial statement fraud
as for creative accounting. Thus, Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999) in the USA
found that, out of a sample of 204 companies using a fraud method, 50 % used improper
revenue recognition, while 50 % had overstated assets. Of the other categories, 18 % had
understated expenses/liabilities, 12 % had misappropriated assets, 8 % had inappropriate
disclosure and 20 % used other miscellaneous techniques. The two biggest categories
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Table 4.1b
Creato plc
Income statement for year ended 31 December 2009

£m £m
Sales 1 110
Less cost of sales
Opening inventory 10
Add purchases 40

50
Less closing inventory 2 18 32

78

Gross profit
Less expenses
Depreciation 3 6
Interest payable 4 5
Depreciation on capitalised
interest payable 4 1
Other expenses 43 55
Profit for year 23
Notes

1. We can simply boost sales by £10m and be less conservative.

2. If we value closing inventory at £18m, this will reduce cost of sales, thus boosting gross profit.

3. By doubling the life of our property, plant and equipment, we can halve the depreciation charge.

4. If we have borrowed the money to finance property, plant and equipment, then we can capitalise some of the interest
payable. Interest payable thus reduces from £15m to £5m. We assume here that we will then depreciate this capitalised
interest over 10 years (this company’s new policy for property, plant and equipment). Thus, we are charging £1m depreciation
on the capitalised interest payable. We thus boost profit by £9m (i.e. £10m saved less £1m extra depreciation).

Source: Adapted from Jones (2006).

were subdivided further. Under improper revenue recognition, 26 % recorded fictitious
revenues, 24 % recorded revenues prematurely and 16 % were overstated. For overstatement
of assets, 37 % had overstated existing assets, 12 % had recorded fictitious assets and 6 %
had capitalised items which should have been expensed. As the text box shows it is,
therefore, perhaps possible for the purpose of this book to divide fraud into two broad
groups: the misappropriation of assets and fictitious transactions.

Methods of fraud

(i) Misappropriation of assets
(a) Inventory
(b) Cash
(c) Other.
(i1) Fictitious transactions (fraudulent financial statements)
(a) One-off: sales, cash and inventory
(b) Systematic.

The misappropriation of assets is basically stealing from the company. This can be
done either by the employees or by the directors. Many assets can be misappropriated, but
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probably those that are either cash or can be turned into cash, such as inventory, are the most
common. In Chapter 11, we will see a particularly striking example of the misappropriation
of the Bank of Crete’s funds by Koskotas. The creation of fictitious transactions can be
one-off or more systematic. In some cases, totally fictitious subsidiaries have been created.
In Chapter 10, there are two interesting examples from Germany, ComRoad and Flowtex,
of the extensive fabrication of company transactions.

4.6.1 Misappropriation of Assets

There are many forms of misappropriation. In essence, this is the easiest and most straight-
forward of fraud cases: almost synonymous with ‘dipping one’s hand in the till’.

4.6.1.1 Inventory

Given that inventory can be sold, it makes an attractive target for fraud by management
or employees. The examples are legend. However, I list some of my favourite ones below.
First, the town of Kidderminster in the UK is famous for making carpets. They were losing
carpets every day, but could not understand how they were being stolen. The thefts went on
all year. Then, in the middle of winter, an employee fell over at the front gates of the factory.
The security guard went over to help and found that a carpet wrapped around the man’s
waist, hidden under a long coat, had slipped and straitjacketed his legs. No longer able to
walk, he fell over in front of the security official at the security office and was caught.

Second, in one famous case, the company’s inventory was stored in liquid form. I believe
it was in the brewing industry. When the auditors came to inspect the inventory they were
taken around all the vats in turn in a set order. All the vats the auditors saw were full.
However, unbeknown to them the liquid was being pumped from vat to vat while they
walked around. Inventory was thus inflated.

In my third favourite case it was the time of the annual stock-check. Normally, and for
years, the stock-check had been carried out by the local inventory manager of the subsidiary
and his team. However, this year staff from head office were called in. They were particularly
enthusiastic on their day out and, therefore, looked at all the inventory available. They even
went to the furthest corners of the warehouse and found lots of cardboard boxes with no
inventory in. These they threw away. It later transpired that the stock manager had for years
been misappropriating the inventory, but leaving the empty boxes behind at the back of the
warehouse. In years past, they had been counted as full. This was the end of a long and
successful fraud.

4.6.1.2 Cash

Cash is the lifeblood of any business. Without cash a business will soon go bankrupt.
Indeed, a company can be making profits, sometimes quite healthy ones, but then run out of
cash and thus go bankrupt. Management and employees may be tempted to steal cash. It is
a common fraud. In the UK, in June 2006 for example, a Scottish bank employee, Donald
MacKensie, was found to have stolen £21 million. He was jailed for 10 years. Ironically,
he had been named the Royal Bank of Scotland’s business manager of the year for three



Methods of Creative Accounting and Fraud 65

successive years (2002, 2003 and 2004) (Lister, 2006). He set up false accounts, but had to
pay the interest on them. This meant he had to borrow more money. He was only caught
by accident when a new computer system for loans crashed.

4.6.1.3 Other

There are a variety of other ways in which assets can be misappropriated. Generally, there
is much more scope for directors to do this than employees. In the case of Polly Peck
in the UK, which went bankrupt in 1989, it was stated at a disciplinary hearing that not
only did Mr Nadir steal large amounts of money from the company, but that there were
‘£47.7 million of net assets which were not legally held in the name of PPI (Polly Peck
International) or its subsidiaries. It was not established [by auditors Stoy Hayward] why it
was that such assets were not properly registered in the name of the company ..." (Joint
Disciplinary Tribunal Complaints against Stoy Hayward, March 2002).

In the case of Adelphia Communications in the USA, the Justice Department and US
Postal Inspection Service charged five executives of Adelphia with ‘fraud, looting the
company and using it as a “personal piggy bank” where “Rigas private funds sloshed with
Adelphia’s in the same cash-management system”’ (Lieberman & Farrell, 2002, p. 3). For
example, Timothy Rigas was accused of using a company jet for an African safari holiday
and company planes also were alleged to have brought guests to a family wedding. Finally,
Adelphia was charged with spending $13 million to build a golf club on land mostly owned
by chief executive John Rigas. John and Timothy Rigas were subsequently jailed.

4.6.2 Fictitious Transactions

Fictitious transactions can be one-off to conceal or create a particular activity or system-
atic. Generally, fictitious one-off transactions concern sales or cash. Systematic fictitious
transactions are obviously much more complicated. They represent fraudulent financial
statements, which are at the heart of most of the accounting scandals in this book.

4.6.2.1 Fictitious Sales

A final way of increasing sales is clearly fraudulent. It is simply to make them up. There
are many instances of this. Parmalat, the disgraced Italian milk company, is alleged to
have made up powdered milk sales to Cuba. There were, in fact, alleged to be 300 000
tons of powdered milk at a value of $620 million. Indeed, if the figures were true then
Cubans would have been ‘swimming’ in milk. In addition, Parmalat used fraudulent double
invoicing where there was one real and one false invoice. Both invoices were entered into
the books, but only one sent to the customer (Langendijk, 2004). Sales were thus inflated.

Many other companies are alleged to also have inflated sales or just made them up.
For example, in the USA the directors of Adelphia Communications were alleged to have
secretly inflated cable TV subscription numbers and, in 2000, to have counted subscribers
from Brazil and Venezuela where Adelphia Communications had just a minority stake. In
addition, in 2001, the company was alleged to have sold 525 000 digital decoder boxes for
$101 million to an unaudited company owned by the Rigas family that controlled Adelphia
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Communications. However, this company had no cable systems (Lieberman and Farrell,
2002). Key members of the Rigas family were found guilty of financial fraud and jailed.

4.6.2.2 Fictitious Cash and Inventory

The creation of fictitious cash transactions has a long history. In the nineteenth century,
for example, there were two notorious fraud cases involving false cash transactions: Walter
Watts and Joseph Cole (Evans, 1859). In the first case, Walter Watts lived a life of luxury
and, in particular, was patron of the Marylebone Theatre. However, it was subsequently
discovered that his lavish lifestyle was the result of gigantic frauds at the Globe Assurance
Office where he worked. He invested false annuities and then diverted the money into
his own account. In addition, he tampered with the dividend account and once again
misappropriated funds. The fraud was perpetuated for between five and six years. Watts
was convicted and sentenced to 10 years’ transportation. Rather than face this, he committed
suicide.

In the second case, Joseph Cole was a general merchant. His early business ventures
proved unsuccessful. He realised that the large banking discount houses made advances
on warrants, but seldom examined the documents. He therefore created duplicate warrants
for inventory. Essentially, he issued two warrants for one cargo. He thus simulated at least
£500 000 false warrants for which he received loan advances. Eventually, suspicions were
aroused and enquiries made. Joseph Cole fled. He was arrested, found guilty, and jailed for
four years.

More recently, Parmalat, an Italian company, got into serious financial difficulty in 2003.
It was unable to make a €150 million bank payment. It was found that €3.9 billion of the
company’s funds supposedly held in the Cayman Islands did not exist.

4.6.2.3 Systematic

There are several well-known examples of cases where directors systematically constructed
a whole edifice of false accounts: City of Glasgow Bank, McKesson and Robbins, Equity
Funding Corporation of America and more recently ComRoad and Flowtex in Germany.
Although taking place in different time periods, these accounting frauds all have simi-
larities: they were enacted by directors, they were sustained and they involved multiple
and systematic transactions. They are discussed here briefly, but covered in more detail in
Chapters 7 and 10.

In the case of the City of Glasgow Bank, which collapsed in 1878, the directors issued
false balance sheets for a number of years. The directors were trying to recover from some
bad business decisions. In the McKesson and Robbins case in the 1930s in the USA, George
Coster set up and maintained for many years a totally fictitious Canadian subsidiary along-
side a perfectly real and successful US company. Then, in the Equity Funding Corporation
of America in the 1960s, Goldblum and Levin created a massive edifice of false insurance
accounts. At ComRoad, the directors fabricated extensive transactions with VT Electronics,
a non-existent overseas supplier supposedly based in Hong Kong. Finally, at Flowtex the
company built up a whole edifice of false transactions involving fictitious leases of drilling
equipment.



Methods of Creative Accounting and Fraud 67

4.7 CONCLUSION

This flexibility in accounting opens the door for many different methods of creative account-
ing. This is helped by the nature of accounting. The boundary between creative accounting
and fraud is often unclear. The basic accounting equation is assets plus expenses equals
income plus liabilities plus capital. Therefore, it is possible to maintain the symmetry within
accounting but classify expenses as assets and loans as income. There are five main strate-
gies for the creative accountant. Strategy 1 involves increasing profit by increasing income,
for example, by treating loans as sales, by the premature recognition of sales, by maximis-
ing other income or by treating loans as sales. Strategy 2 also involves increasing profit,
this time by decreasing expenses by methods such as provision accounting, increasing
inventory, capitalising expenses, lengthening asset lives, minimizing bad debts, minimising
tax or using the big bath technique. Strategy 3 focuses on increasing the net worth of the
balance sheet by increasing the assets, for example, by including brands and intangibles,
goodwill and revaluing fixed assets. Strategy 4 also involves boosting the net worth of the
balance sheet, however, this time by reducing liabilities through, for example, off-balance
sheet financing or reclassifying debt as equity. Finally, Strategy 5 involves maximising
operating cash flow. This can be done in two ways. The first involves maximising operating
cash flows. The second, minimising operating cash outflows. Finally, the special cases of
fraud are examined; in particular, the misappropriation of inventory, cash and assets as well
as the invention of fictitious transactions or even fictitious businesses.
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. Evidence for Creative Accounting and Fraud |

Michael Jones

5.1 INTRODUCTION

There have been many studies that have investigated the evidence for creative accounting
and, to a lesser extent, fraud. These studies can roughly be divided into descriptive and
statistical studies. This chapter will investigate these studies. The descriptive studies look at
the topic of creative accounting and fraud and then cite examples of individual companies
and case studies.! Some of the statistical studies use very complicated and complex statisti-
cal methodologies. Generally, the statistical studies more often focus on creative accounting
in aggregate rather than on fraud. However, there is also a body of literature which seeks
to relate corporate governance characteristics (such as presence of an audit committee) to
the incidence of fraud. The aim of this chapter will be just to give a simplified overview of
these studies.? Generally, here the intent is to focus on one or two of the most illustrative
and informative studies in each category.

5.2 THE DESCRIPTIVE STUDIES

These studies are usually reports or books that address the topic of what they normally
call creative accounting.? Figure 5.1 lists 10 of these studies. The earliest of these was the
seminal book by lan Griffiths in 1986 that first brought the topic of creative accounting
out into the open (Griffiths, 1986). Two influential reports followed by County Natwest
WoodMac (1991) and UBS Phillips & Drew (1991). The report by UBS Phillips & Drew
was particularly influential as it was written by a pair of well-respected UK analysts who
actually named companies that they believed were using creative accounting techniques.
Two books by Trevor Pijper (1993) and McBarnet and Whelan (1999) then surveyed the UK
scene over a 10-year period. Clarke, Dean and Oliver (2003) reviewed corporate collapses
from the 1960s up to 2002 in Australia. This was followed up by Clarke and Dean (2007),
which looked at financial reporting against the backdrop of Enron. Then there are three
books from the USA. Charles Mulford and Eugene Comiskey (2002) wrote an influential

! This is not meant to be exhaustive and cover all reports and books, but to give a flavour of prior research.

2 Readers who wish to study the topic in more detail are referred to the original articles. This chapter does not deal
with books and articles which cover only one company. There is, in particular, a wealth of articles and books on Enron and
WorldCom.

3 Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999) and Wells (2005) deal more specifically with fraud.

Creative Accounting, Fraud and International Accounting Scandals ~ Edited by Michael Jones
© 2011 Michael Jones. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd
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(1) 1an Griffiths, Creative Accounting (1986)

This was the seminal book on creative accounting. It brought to the public notice that the flexibility in
the accounts could be used for creative accounting. This book was updated in 1995 and called New

Creative Accounting.

(2) County Natwest WoodMac, Company Pathology (1991)

This report was an interesting step in creative accounting because it named companies who had

indulged in creative accounting. It studied 45 UK companies that failed in 1989 and 1990.

(3) UBS Phillips & Drew, Accounting for Growth (1991)

This was another UK report that named names. It looked at 185 UK companies’ annual reports and
then highlighted some of the most common accounting techniques used by companies to enhance
their results. | analysed this book in an article entitled ‘Accounting for growth: surviving the

accounting jungle’. The report was followed by a book, also called Accounting for Growth.

(4) Trevor Pijper, Creative Accounting (1993)

This book built on Accounting for Growth. It looked at the effectiveness of financial reporting in the
UK against the background of the introduction of a new and more effective regulatory regime, the
Accounting Standards Board, that was born in the aftermath of several high-profile UK accounting

scandals.

(5) Frank Clarke, Graeme Dean and Kyle Oliver, Corporate Collapse, Accounting, Regulatory and

Ethical Failure (2003, first issued 1997)

This book provides a comprehensive look at Australian corporate collapses in the 1960s, 1970s and
1980s. The book is set within the general context of creative accounting. It advocates a rethink of

group accounting.

(6) Frank Clarke and Graeme Dean, Indecent Disclosure: Gilding the Corporate Lily (2007)

This book builds on the previous book by Clarke, Dean and Oliver (2003). It was written after, and
influenced by, events at Enron. The authors look again at several Australian scandals and argue that
the current corporate governance schemes and regulations may be doing more harm than good.

They develop an alternative financial reporting framework for groups.

(7) McBarnet and Whelan, Creative Accounting and the Cross-eyed Javelin Thrower (1999)

This book surveyed UK financial reporting in 1999. This was after almost 10 years of the new

regulatory framework established in 1990. Many instances of creative accounting were found.

Figure

5.1 Descriptive studies of creative accounting and fraud
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(8) Charles Mulford and Eugene Comiskey, The Financial Numbers Game (2002)

This book was published just before the Enron and WorldCom financial scandals in the USA.
However, this book documented numerous cases of creative accounting and fraud and showed that
all was not well in the USA. The same authors also produced a follow-up book, Creative Cash Flow

Reporting in the USA in 2005.

(9) Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson, Fraudulent Financial Reporting 1987-1997: An Analysis of
U.S. Public Companies (1999)

This report was a follow-up to an earlier report published in 1987. It reviewed fraudulent financial
reporting in the USA. It found the companies involved were relatively small and that top
management was frequently involved. The study looked at the nature of the frauds, the role of the

external auditor and the consequences and implications of the frauds.
(10) Joseph Wells, Principles of Fraud Examination (2005)

This book provides a comprehensive examination of occupational fraud and abuse. It covers
corruption, asset misappropriation and fraudulent statements. The latter section is particularly

relevant and looks at, inter alia, methods of financial statement fraud.

Figure 5.1 (Continued)

book on creative accounting in the USA just before the Enron and WorldCom scandals.
There are also two US publications on fraud. First, Beasley, Carcello and Hermanson (1999)
looked at the nature and extent of fraud in the USA. Then, Joseph Wells (2005) produced a
book on both individual and financial statement fraud drawing on examples from the USA.

5.2.1 Ian Griffiths, Creative Accounting (1986)

This book began with the immortal lines that I quoted in the Introduction: ‘Every company
in the country is fiddling its profits. Every set of accounts is based on books which have
been gently cooked or completely roasted. The figures which are fed twice a year to the
investing public have been changed in order to protect the guilty. It is the biggest con
trick since the Trojan horse.” It set out to demonstrate that most UK companies were
indulging in creative accounting. By this it meant that companies, although working within
the regulatory framework, were using accounts to serve managerial purposes rather than
giving shareholders a true picture of what was going on. This book was revised and updated
in 1995. However, the basic story was still the same. Despite a new regulatory regime, —
the UK’s Accounting Standards Board (ASB), set up in 1990 — creative accounting was
still alive and well. In fact, one of the major reasons for the creation of the ASB was the
perceived prevalence of creative accounting.

Griffiths’ book covered a range of issues such as the presentation of the accounts,
income and expenses, foreign currency, pensions, stock, current assets, share capital, cash
and borrowing, off-balance sheet financing, acquisitions and mergers, brands and goodwill,



72 Creative Accounting, Fraud and International Accounting Scandals

and deferred taxation. For each topic he showed the ways in which the figures could be
presented creatively. Usually, he used made-up examples to illustrate the points he made.
However, sometimes he mentioned real-life examples. For example, he cites Lucas, a UK
company that in the mid-1980s quite legally took a pension holiday (i.e. did not contribute
to its employees’ pension scheme because they were in surplus). As a result, Lucas’s profits
increased by £40 million over a two-year period (Griffiths, 1995, p. 43).

5.2.2 County Natwest WoodMac, Company Pathology (1991)

The Griffiths book brought the phenomenon of creative accounting to prominence. However,
it was the two reports by County Natwest WoodMac and UBS Phillips & Drew which really
started to name names and give practical, concrete examples of creative accounting. County
Natwest WoodMac produced Company Pathology in 1991. County Natwest WoodMac was
the investment arm of a leading high street bank, National Westminster. The report was,
therefore, written by a city insider and drew its inspiration from the study of pathology.
The authors felt that there might be something to be learnt from the analysis of deceased
companies.

They studied 45 listed, USM or Third Market companies with administrators or admin-
istrative receivers appointed in 1989 or 1990. The purpose of their report was to highlight
shortcomings in the UK financial reporting. They showed that only three of the 45 auditors’
reports were qualified. All the other auditors’ reports gave the companies a clean bill of
health. They looked at the last published accounts of the companies before they failed. Of
the 44 reports published, 29 showed a rise, nine a fall and six a loss. There was thus no
obvious signal that most of the companies were about to fail. The report also criticised
accounting standards: ‘Accounting Standards give companies too much scope for creative
accounting. One set of accounts were described by an experienced and well-qualified fund
manager as “a complete joke”’ (County Natwest WoodMac, 1991, p. 4). In particular, the
report highlighted the weakness of the prevailing foreign currency provisions. They cited
Polly Peck, which was a high-profile UK corporate collapse in 1998.

As pointed out in Chapter 4, Polly Peck had borrowed money in Swiss francs and
deposited it in Turkey/northern Cyprus.* Under the prevailing rules, the company was able
to take high levels of interest earned in an inflationary regime to the income statement.
However, the capital loss was taken straight to reserves. As the authors state you would,
however, have to be very astute and attentive to spot and understand what was going on.
In fact, nobody did until after the event. It is this lack of astuteness and attentiveness upon
which the creative accountant thrives.

The report then went on to list six areas that it identified as questionable account-
ing practices. Despite the passage of time, since the 1980s most are still questionable
today. First, many companies had capitalised interest and other costs; this was particu-
larly true of property developers. In the case of Reliant this capitalised interest was over
100 % of pre-tax profit. This capitalised interest not only made profits higher, but in Re-
liant’s case it turned a loss into a profit. Second, one company, Leading Leisure, had
added £10 million to profits by selling properties to joint venture companies (companies
jointly owned with other companies). There was also evidence that loans made to joint

4 The north of Cyprus was invaded by Turkey in 1974. It is not recognised by the UN as an independent nation.
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venture companies may have enabled those companies to purchase the properties. In other
words, Leading Leisure was selling properties to itself and booking them as profits. Third,
many companies were classifying and excluding from profits extraordinary items (sup-
posed to be one-off unusual costs) when really they were normal operating costs. They
were thus artificially boosting their normal trading profits. Fourth, many companies were
classifying their leases as operating rather than as finance leases so they did not have to
be capitalised and counted as part of the company’s borrowing. However, these leases were
to all intents and purposes really finance leases which should have been capitalized. These
companies were thus creatively reducing the debt which appeared on their balance sheets.
Fifth, many companies were revaluing investment properties to open market value. This
policy, as the authors state, gives directors considerable latitude. It also generally, given
the rise of property prices, increased the value of the company’s assets. Sixth, in echoes of
Enron: ‘There was widespread use of joint ventures to keep the finance for property devel-
opments off-balance sheet, with borrowings being secured on the developments’ (County
Natwest WoodMac, 1991, p. 21). The report gave the example of Rush and Tomkins. This
company had group loans and overdrafts of £25 million. However, it also had £89 million
of loans through joint venture companies. However, this was not clear from a study of its
accounts. When the company collapsed a year later it owed about £300 million.

5.2.3 UBS Phillips & Drew, Accounting for Growth (1991)

This UK report also named names. It thus shone a spotlight onto practices which had
hitherto been clouded in mystery. It created quite a storm in the City of London at the time.
It was compiled by two analysts, Terry Smith and Richard Hannah. Subsequently, Terry
Smith left Phillips & Drew. This was the result of the furore which the book caused. Smith
then published a book, entitled Accounting for Growth on his own (Smith, 1991). This book
went into more details of individual companies than the original report.

The original report looked at the reporting practices of 185 large, listed UK companies
circa 1990. As well as copious specific examples of companies which adopted accounting
practices that enhanced reported earnings per share, the report produced the so-called blob
index. This listed 185 UK companies and indicated which of 11 ‘creative accounting’
practices the firms adopted. I subsequently analysed this blob index, as discussed below.
As can be seen in Table 5.1, the 11 techniques were found to be used with differing degrees
of frequency.

Provisions were by far the most popular technique. Many companies used acquisitions
as an opportunity to tidy up their balance sheets. They wrote down assets such as inventory
and trade receivables so that they could sell these assets later and book more profit. With
fixed assets, by writing them down they could charge less depreciation in future which also
boosted profits. Also, when they were sold later on, profits on disposal would be greater.

Ten other techniques were found to be prevalent in the early 1990s. These techniques
were all permitted by contemporary accounting rules and regulations. Indeed, some such
as the capitalisation of expenses are still permitted now. First, 34 % of companies boosted
pre-tax profits by non-trading exceptional items. They were thus including in operat-
ing profit non-operating items. Second, companies were creatively using extraordinary
items. This gave the appearance of better ongoing profits than was actually the case. With
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Table 5.1 Ranking of accounting practices used by 185 major UK companies in Accounting for
Growth

Type No. % Ranking
Provisions 105 57 1
Nontrading profits 63 34 2
Extraordinary costs 54 29 3
Pension funds 52 28 4
Capitalization 50 27 5
Low-tax charge 24 13 6
Off-balance sheet debt 23 12 7
Depreci